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So can I start by asking you where you were born and when? 

I was born in Natal in the area called Mapumolo area- it's my 
uncle's place, where my mother was born - in 1942 - born of very 
simple family - my father of pourse was born and came from an area 
in Zululand called ~i~ndla area - that is what would be my actual 
home - my father died in the middle - middle •4os when I was still 
very young, so I didn't see much of my father. I saw parts of ·my 
mother, who started '\'forking shortly after my father's death as a 
domestic worker and continued, and I was therefore deprived an opp­
ortunity really to stay with my parents continuously. 

As I grew up that tended to bring an element of my being £rom place 
to place - part of my life I was at Durban, where she was working, 
in the Cato Manor area - at times I was at Mapumolo area - and at a 
certain stage, I think when I was around 12, lJ or so I then spent 
some time also at Nicandla for the first time, and later I had to 
spend a bit of time there, so I kept on moving from area to area. 

And was this all very rural- I don't have a picture •••• 

The Mapumolo area not very rural - it is a small town at the Hkomo­
pumolo (?) district in Natal sort of semi urban - life different 
from the life at Nicandla, which is where my father came from, which 
was very rural. I could not therefore have a very continuous kind 
of life in one area - I had to move from one area to the other for -
for various - I mean for one simple reason of course that my mother 
had to put me l'lhere I was supposed to be. 

She had fears to stay with me in - in - in Durban permanently because 
she - she was of a peasant background, as you know, and felt if I 
stayed there perhaps I may be influenced by what the old people call 
town kind of life or township life, but that was not the basic reason­
the other reason was that as a domestic worker she was not allowed 
to stay 'rith us, the children, at work, where she was staying - the 
only house provided '\'las for her and - and therefore that influenced 
her at first to take us to her own mother at Mapumolo area and keep 
on visiting us, or at times making it possible that I come to her. 

Ckearly she wanted to be '\'lith me, but the circumstances did not 
permit. Around 1948 I was still very young, for the first time I 
would say I - I - I remember very vividly because we were singing 
this song - there was a song which was sung thoughout South Africa -
particularly in Natal we were singing this song, young people, wh±ch 
says the song was saying Umthetho ka Malan usiphethenzima, the la,'IS 
of Malan are oppressing us - what was very clear in front of me was 
that much as I saw other children with their fathers and mothers, it 
was clear I did not have my mother and father near me and I there -
I therefore could feel this gap - so when this song '\'las being sung, 
or as you grew up you - you - you had an impression that somebody 
was doing something, so when people l'lere saying Malan's laws are 
oppressing us I - I remember I - I - I specifically asked a quest­
ion - I cant t remember ''~hether it was from my uncle or from my 
grandmother or from one of my aunts, but I asked a question - who 
is this Malan - and I was told Malan is the government . 

I had an impression then that this government must be a very huge 
man (Laugh) who's pOl'lerful to, you know, oppress everybody- but 
that's the first time I - I - I got to know that there's somebody 
who is actually making everybody not feel happy. 
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J .z. I did not make the impression I - I had to - I ,.,as to make later on, 
but by that time that was my understanding- I would say that's 
where my first sort of - I think I asked a few questions again -
where does he stay - and they were saying, pointing at some direct­
ion and mentioning places I didn • t kno,., then. 

However, it went on and on and because of my continuous coming to 
stay '\rl th my mother in Cato Manor, so at my early age I had contact 
firstly with the ,.,hi te people - I'm forgetting to say that the first 
place where my - I remember the first place I saw my mother working 
was at f.1apumolo area - she was a domestic worker of a magistrate, and 
there were problems - I couldn't enter - nobody was allowed to enter 
the place. 

So when she - when she worked in town, whenever I got to town I - I 
could not stay ,.,ith her - so my first impression of, or contact was 
rather a strange one because it didn't look as if we belonged to­
gether with those (?) people - they had to be so feared - my mother 
would make it a point that not even by mistake that they - they -
they realise I was around - so that was a kind of - the experience 
that one came across. 

But ,.,hen I made contact "'ath the - the - the Indian community in Cato 
Manor - the areas are just adjacent - it ,.,as a different situation -
the Indian community live in that area in particular is the commun­
ity that is not rich at all~ which did not differ very much from us 
in the Cato Han or and in (?) the Kumbane (?) Township, as we called 
it - I also had my other cousins who ,.,ere staying in to\m - in the 
,.,hat we called the backyards of the Indian places or flats - L later 
also used that kind of' accommodation and - and when I visited them 
I played around lrith the Indian kids as a kid also - we did not find 
any problem, unlike ,.,i th the white people - it was not easy to get 
closer in ,.,hat - in ,.,hatever way - after all the only relation was 
that my mother ,.,as ,.,orking, and so you have to - you had to relate 
in that kind of way. 

But ,.,ith the Indian commt.m.ity the relationship ,.,as different as - as 
I saw it, so my first actually closer contact ,.,as first and fore­
most before I actually became a politician lrith the Indian commt.m.ity 
at the level when we ,.,ere children - again it ,.,as not a continuous 
uninterrupted process, so this would happen whenever I was in Durban, 
I actually had my friends. 

At the Kamapumolo (?) area where I stayed again funny, the - the to'\m 
has ,.,hi tes only, not many - it 1 s not a big town - but we could not 
at all play ,.,ith the white children ,.,ho were there, so there was in 
fact a continuous war between us and them, because we played - be­
cause who played (?) came to the - to - to town, playing, and they 
chased us away and - and - and it was generally some clashes - when 
we see them ,.,e - we - we - '""e chased after them, and when they saw 
us they chased after us, so the relation '\vas never really good, and 
later when I loolced at it I realised that they were actually being 
told not to play with us, because from time to time there were some 
occasions where ,.,e would play, but they ,.,ere all\"ays either the ser­
vants or the mother come, and then later I'll find the attitude has 
changed. 
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J.z. So I ' m trying to say the relation from that early age, at my very 
beginning when I '"as beginning to look around, to open my eyes , that 
was a kind of first experience that one got across, but o£ course 
li£e went on - it looked normal - it looked '"hat it is supposed to 
be - until in the '50s when I began, as I was coming £rom time to 
time to Durban area I began to - to - to hear meetings, a lot o£ 
meetings, political people - I mean these were now the congress 
people - it someho1v had some impression - I - I took it that it was 
basically because of my way of groldng - I grew up '\Yith a feeling 
that there was a gap some1vhere. 

I couldn't go to school and - and so I had these kind o£ problems, 
and I £elt I needed something to - to resolve those (?) problems -
as I grew up I £el t that my mother '"as wnrking hard, and therefore 
I - I - my mind ,.,as in a way (?) searching and any way (anywhere) 
for some solution, unconsciously of course at a young age. I rem­
ember at one time I thought perhaps God will help, because my grand­
mother was a very big Christian - she used to 90 with me to church -
so thinking that this mighty fellow· 1dll help ~Laugh) but of course 
there '"as no help. 

So when I - I heard this message it actually stuck on me - I then 
brie£ly therea£ter when I was in Zululand my cousin - o£ course in 
our language we call it the elder brother - he was a - the - the -
the - the £irst son o£ my £ather from my other mother - he was in 
the - in the ANC already- this is in the ' 50s -he was a volunteer 
already, and he - he preached continuously congress , and continuously 
indeed. 

And I had another cousln of mine who was of my same age - I think 
just eight months older than me - we wanted to - to join the move­
ment, and we felt - I felt this was a thing that (?) I influenced 
the - my other brother that : Look,let us - let us join - but we -
we were of course in the countryside at that point in time, so my 
brother came to Durban - he was starting to work, and I think he -
he joined. 

I came at some stage and I listened again to these big meetings - I 
remember I wanted to join and I talked to somebody who said : You 
are still too young- but around late '50s -I think about '58 I was 
able to join - the main thing of course at the time I - I joined the 
youth league - the main thing was to listen to the public meetings, 
speeches, and I al'\vays looked forward to this kind of thing - but 
not long after that because I - I - the - the other thing - what 
happened to me because of my mother's position - 'lvhat I have been 
£orgetting is that at a later stage as - as I was coming to town, 
so I 1'1ill used to do some part time jobs as a small boy - to a point 
that I can • t even remember when I started '"orking, because I remember 
just working '"hen I ' m there and going, but I can ' t say at this time 
I then started working formally, unless at the point when I - I went 
to look for papers , as it were (?) - so there is no meeting that 
missed me after that. 

But I shortly again joined SACTU, and that made an important con­
tribution to my consciousness, because SACTU had an arrangement 
where there were political discussions discussing about trade union­
ism, so instead o£ just attending meetings in general but I got in­
volved in political discussions . 
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J.z. It was a (?) kind of' labour theory discussion discussing about trade 
unionism, what trade unionism was - so that ' s when I got my real 
( •••••••••••••• ) as it is now of' politics - l'lhat it's all about, the 
exploitation etc. - I thought I've discovered the solution to my 
problems - here l'lere people who were talking something that I thought 
was actually a solution, because after all the problems I had were 
the problems of' many people - I mean I '\'las - I observed. 

So I - I went on and the commitment grew very deep and very quick -
we also had discussions of the youth on the - on the ANC - they were 
so - '\'le even had days of' the youth where ''~e 1 d discuss some politics 
and SACTU at that date (?) - of' course in Natal we had a specific 
way of' dealing with the politic (?) (Faulty tape or mike too near.) 
And as I entered the movement, in both ANC and SACTU, here there 
were white comrades and Indian comrades, and I ' d never - I can ' t re­
member a single moment where there was a problem. 

I took it that because of' my earlier period I did not have a - a new 
situation as such, and because of' my understanding it was clear that 
the people l'lho are here were the people l'lho '\'lere looking for some­
thing common - there was a bit of' actually realising that indeed we 
have g ot the l'lhites around and these are the good ones - this was -
was my first impression - different from the others - but of course 
the practical work that was being done made it even more not an 
issue, because they were quite active - l'le were busy with the - with 
the comrades . 

In fact later l'le had a lot of' - in the political discussion we got 
involved quite a lot with the comrades, so ''~e did not have problems 
that made us to feel perhaps these were strange people as such - as 
I say, my impression was these are the good ones, different from the 
ones that are actually oppressing us - so we had that kind of' a per­
iod - I l'las part, f'or an example, then of' the volunteer - in the 
volunteers of' the A~ C - did a lot of' general mobilisation in our (?) 
attended - I mean there was no meeting that I failed to attend - to 
me this became the thing. 

So if', f'or an example, Luthuli was to speak I mean I w·ouldn 1 t miss 
that one because it l'las so important f'or us to listen to our lead-
ers what they had to say, and there was a lot very clear that he had 
to say, our - his - his speeches even on the question of' non-racialism 
were very, very clear and - and there was no ques~ion - you couldn't 
question it because it was so clear and correct - and preaching how 
we were actually being - I remember one time listening to him - we 
are ( 1 actually being above the understanding of' the l'lhi te person, 
whom I thought was very superior - because he was tracing a bit of' 
history, how· they came, hOl'l they then played tricks in order to take 
away the country, how l'le l'lere ready to be with them and to handle 
the country together. 

It l'las a bit of' a history kind of speech indicating how even the 
struggle began and l'lhy can't they understand, and of' course I didn't 
understand why couldn't they understand the truth because it was (?) 
the plain truth - so that kind of' politics, po+iticisation was in 
a way key at the first kind of' conduct in a l'lay, so it never had a 
problem - of' course there were more Indian comrades that we worked 
with, particularly in Natal - it never just occurred that these were 
different people - I always felt it was because of' my background, 
that I grew up playing with them and I was always with the Indian 
community from time to time . 
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J.z. But with the deepening o~ the struggle you- you began to realise 
how serious and how committed some o~ these comrades were - and o~ 
course with the beginning o~ understanding the policies our own 
position in terms o~ the Freedom Charter, how we kept on discussing 
it, what it meant, helped to ~urther root our policies to me very, 
very, very, very deeply - I don't think I never (ever} had a problem. 

We - we'd discuss racialism as - as seen, ~or an example, in - in 
SACTU, because the - the workers were not allowed to be together, 
whites, Indians and Africans - these kind of problems were general 
problems that were discussed continuously - how you'd have one meet­
ing but have two minutes in order to justify that this was not one 
meeting - that kind of thing - and of course we worked together - we 
did not have a problem, but the problem l'las the law, and these kind 
o~ things were, ~ortunately, ably explained at an early age by com­
rades in - in - in SACTU, ~or an example, so that this did not become 
an issue at all. 

0~ course when the ANC got banned you - you then had immediately 
this secret organisation that emerged, ~(, and what you found in ~( 
that there was then no problem o~ colour at all, no problem - I mean 
the law that '"ould have prevented us to be together in the same union, 
or to be together in the ANC, was no longer operative (?) because 
here we were no,., in condi tiona o~ underground. It was unlike when 
you looked at the congress alliance - the ANC ought to be there -
the Indian Congress, Congress o~ Democrats, the -the people's -
Coloured People's Congress -there was a political explanation you 
could not be together, so we( ••••••••••••••••• ) to have a congress 
alliance - but when '"e got underground MK membership was not on the 
basis of any colour - it was the organisation of everybody, so where 
we had control o~ everything and no longer respecting any law, we 
were together and there was no problem. 

And l'lhat 1-1as important in my o1m mind '\'las this organisation had taken 
a decision, or this organisation was pursuing the armed struggle in 
the - in the - in practical terms, so the kind of '\rork done at ~fK 
level was in ~act the work in terms o~ the - the phase o~ our stru­
ggle - 1-1hoever l'las arrested then, 1-1hether white or black, would 
~ace the consequences o~ his or her activities - now a commitment, 
therefore, there 1-1as seen even more realistically than above when 
we l'lere still just having meetings - here we are no1-1 acting in a -
in a- in a di~~erent ( ••••••• ) and- and these comrades there was 
no di~~erence - no-one was saying : Do it - do this amount (Laugh) 
because you are - you are A~rican, do this amount because you are 
an Indian - we were all doing it equally. 

So again at another level which was becoming_very serious we- we­
we worked together ~urther in - in implementing our Olffi policy - so 
we didn't have a problem. However, as you lmo''~• the - the period 
be~ore this had seen - that is in the early '50s -I'm talking about, 
~or an example, the de~iance campaign o~ 1952 - what had happened 
here is that the people who de~ied the law· l'lere not only A~ricans, 
but it was whites, Indians, Coloureds together ~acing the unjust 
lalis. 

That period was very important in the practical implementation o~ 
the ideas that we - ,.,e - we always had leading up to the congress 
o~ the people - up to the congress o~ the people and the adoption 
o~ the Freedom Charter. 
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J.Z. In fact that struggle became the best tBacher to even the ANC people 
and everybody in terms of understanding the dynamics of w·orking to­
gether - and therefore by the time you come to the period that I've 
been talking about where '~e all get involved, and this, as I ' m say­
ing, as we join (?) then you are taught and explained so this be­
comes part of your knowledge in the process of the struggle, is -

J. z. 

is what the ANC can talk about - what the ANC became more effective 
about - and it was very clear that these policies were - were - were 
were feared by the enemy, and of course you - as you move along the 
struggle there is this perpetual charge about ANC being communistic 
in that kind of way, which is another dimension in a way because it 
makes you to be keen to know but why, what is this, who are these 
communists. 

Now the enemy of course always commits a mistake by thinking, if it 
says the communists are bad people then people are g oing to scare 
away - but to the oppressed people the effects of that is - is the 
opposite, because then the people think the communists must be the 
right people l~ho are so hated, who therefore want to kill the enemy, 
so you - you beg in to be - and actually the enemy ends up recruiting 
(Laugh) people in the sense that everybody '~ants the one who is more 
determined to deal with the enemy, and they always say the commun­
ists are the most dangerous ones. 

And people are saying : We actually l~ould like to - to see those who 
are - who are - l~ho are the most dangerous - that is another element 
of course, which is not the main issue at the - at this point in time­
but my experience for an example, when '~e got arrested - that is 
in 19- ( •••••••• ) after the activities of the early •6os- of course 
the - the white comrades were not allowed - there '~ere not very many, 
but they '~ere not allowed to go with us to Robben Island, but the 
Indian comrades, the Coloured comrades, we '~ent with. 

Now by law in South Africa even in prison you have got to be treated 
somehow differently on some aspects - one of these, for an example, 
was that they had( ••••••••••• ) to long pants, trousers- we did not 
have a right (Laugh) Indians and Coloureds - classification - they 
had shoes '~hen '~e had sandals ••••••••••••••• 

END OF SIDE ONE. 

• • • • they ate '~hat '~as called D Diet l~hilst '~e ate F Diet - D Diet 
meant they had their meat in a small tin, piece of bread, some ( • •• 
• • • • • • • ) and we '~ere not allowed to have that because '~e were not, 
you lmolv - so that this classification continued to be there (?) 
but this did not make any - any - any serious thing in our mind be­
cause l~e - ,.,e - lve knew the system - this did not become an issue -
I'm just mentioning it to indicate how tho enemy tries all the time 
to differentiate the communities - but I don't even remember one 
having any problem. 
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J.Z. Even i£ you were £reezing you didn't £eel the other comrade has a 
long ( •••••••••••• ) because we lme'"' that's ho,., the enemy deals with 
us, and that did not become an issue to us. I mean one o£ my best 
£riend comrade that I stayed with, that I ,.,as al\.;ays 'ci th at all -
all the material (? times, was actually an Indian comrade - we had 
been together in Durban - we went together - I - I - I think in the 
majority o£ time up to - up to - I mean at that time up to today, I 
don ' t even remember as (he's) an Indian -I mean it ' s not an issue. 

I've respected at the time comrades like Cde . Billy Nair - as I say 
our senior comrades then and - and never had any problem that this 
was a - a - a comrade which was not an A£rican - it never occurred -
it doesn't - I mean at that time it was no longer an issue in my mind. 
What again is important is that we - in South A£rica because o£ the 
experiences o£ the ' 50s- I think late '50s - actually a question 
began to be asked in general as to whether - was it not the - the 
right time now that ANC was actually open - membership ,.,as open to 
everybody- so the issue arose in the ' 50s, late ' 50s, and this was 
as a result o£ the practical experiences that our people had £aced 
in terms o£ struggling together in the ' 50s, ,.,orking on important 
documents like the Freedom Charter. 

lw 
The - the great leaders like Dadoo had - had won the Isitwal~ to­
gether with Chie£ Luthuli , greatly respected like Dr. - Dr. N~cker, 
that (?) we respected with no - no thinking that there was any di£f­
erence between Dr. Naicker and Luthuli - we sang about Dr. Naicker -
had songs that (,.,e) sang in Natal in particular, sang about Chie£ 
Luthuli and Dr. Naicker , calling upon them to lead us - we did not 
have any problem • 

So it has been the question of practical ,.,ork besides the policy as 
put down of the ANC that working with these comrades has gradually 
so much undermined the prejudices that the enemy tries to preach all 
the time, that the preachings o£ the enemy become a joke more than 
anything then - when then perhaps is important to indicate is that 
when we - we - some of us came out o£ prison , £ound again almost the 
same thing continuing - ,.,e came out in prison at the end o£ '73, for 
an example - I did - as you know at that - during that year it is 
the time that the trade union movement was beginning to show its -
its - its organisation in the country - perhaps on'e did not see the 
period between •63 to - to '72 or - or middle o£ '73, because as we 
came out I remember in Durban trade union movements were very busy 
and I got involved again, and the same situation. 

Indian comrades were busy, Coloured comrades were busy in the trade 
unions - in fact it is important to mention the £act that even from 
prison comrades like Cde. Phyllis Naidoo related to - to - to - to 
us and never thought that this comrade ,.,as - ,.,as di££erent at all -
she actually served as almost a reception point to us - as we came 
out of prion she was receiving us - she was seeing to everything -
she - we came out with nothing - she was seeing to whatever she eats 
we - we - we ate together with her - that kind o£ very deep kind of 
comradeship and working together and understanding one another ' s 
problems in that kind o£ ,.,ay. 

I had no problem to - to go to her i£ I had nothing and say : Look, 
I had nothing to eat today - and - and she 'rould see to it - i£ she 
says : I've got nothing, let us eat together - that kind o£ comrade­
ship, sharing the - the - the problems o£ the struggle - and there­
£ore in the trade union movement there was still -
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Of course by that time even the BC movement had come, and BC move­
ment insofar as the Indian and Coloured communities had also found 
it not an issue - I think the only issue they found ,~as - it was the 
white (?) community, so again it had played a positive role in that 
regard - I mean when they talked of black it was black including 
three communities mainly, so that - that '~as no longer an issue - we -
'~e were moving forward. 

But again what is important is that duru1g the period that we were 
in - in prison, and we had other comrades coming out of South Africa 
and operating outside South Africa, you - you had a situation where 
the involvement of other nationalities in the ANC as different from 
the one '~hich was in the '50s through the Congress Alliance - I mean 
once we were outside South African borders you had no - no - no law 
to be considered in a way, so the - the - the involvement of the -
of all comrades in general equally in the structures of the ANC be­
came something that '~as being undertaken. 

You - you - you had, for an example, by (Interruption) - this was of 
course finally discussed at the Morogoro conference, where in the 
in the structures, as senior as the revolutionary council of the 
ANC, all comrades , .. ere to serve - so you had a situation where in 
these comrades every,~here in the structures of the movement were 
participating at all levels - they were respected in the - in terms 
of leadership etc. 

Again what is important here is the practical reality because when, 
for an example, we - we talk of the law in South Africa preventing 
us from doing something because if you are seen together you will be 
arrested, but - but as soon as that law is not there we always work 
together - there is no problem - the example of MK, that when the 
law was no longer a problem we had no problem to work together - so 
again '~hen we are no longer inside South Africa, we are outside, 
there was no problem of working together. 

So you can see that the - the - the separation, even that what made 
the Congress Alliance to be there, it was because of - of - of the 
law as such - not that ,.,e could not have worked together - all those 
people in the - Congress Alliance could have been in one organisation 
in any way - but the boers have always tried to see to it that there 
is no link - they tried this - in fact if you looked at the nation­
ali tie s in that l<:ind of way you may think the issue is merely the 
issue between the l'lhites, Coloureds, Indian and Africans, but if you 
look at it much deeper you will realise that in fact even among the -
the African communities this separation is there exactly the same. 

They, for an example , the Nationalist Party, '~hen it felt that the 
congress lias making such advances, the congress lihich '~as founded 
on an important principle of unity, it had united first and fore­
most the African people and it - it lias moving- - it had moved to 
unite the African people and the Indian people and the Coloured 
people, and it was consciously uniting the 'lihi te people and all 
other communities, because there was a conscious effort to do that, 
and - and - and the enemy then began to fall back and to see the 
danger. 

One of the dangers was that the policies of the congress were so 
correct that even the white people if they were allowed to be ex­
posed to the preaching s of the congress they would be converted, so 
it was important to cut this. 
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J.z. And they of course in a- in an attempt to find some solution of 
their own they then began to introduce the homeland policy - now 
the homeland policy's not different from the actual apartheid in a 
sense - it is an apartheid of its own, because what are they saying 
in the homeland policy - they are saying the Xhosas should be to­
gether away from the Zulus, away from the Swazi speaking, away from 
the Vendas, away from the Botswanas, a'\oTay from the Ndabeles - so you 
have this apartheid policy at one level being between the national­
ities in terms of Indian, Coloureds and '\oThites, but you have it also 
within the - the - the African groupings. 

So you have a situation '\oThere it is - it is seen in that regard in 
a different - but it's the same thing - same, same thing - no diff­
erence - you know, they apply the same - they would like to have 
people separated different - if for an example, according to them, 
if they had promoted tribalism to a degree where then either the 
the - the - the Pedis '\oTOUld feel the Vendas are wrong, they must be 
there must be animosity they will thrive out - out of that too (?) 

If for an example, they they see what has been happening recently, 
the clashes '\oThich they have been ah'lays - one of the areas they ' ve 
concentrated on has been the mines - if they see people fighting 
there, to them that is a better thing because they can then better 
control the people - if they see Gatsha ' s people fighting loTi th Hat­
anzima•s people, they feel this is an important thing because they 
can better control these people - it - this is (?) the whole kind 
of thing, and therefore to try to say : This group is bad and that 
group is bad - so it is a whole thing . 

And this is what '\oTe - our basic policy that '\oTe - we preach for unity 
and - and - and our unity goes total - it does not go half way -
this is what the enemy fears mostly - but of course the other quest­
ion, or the other point that is important to be noted is that the 
policy of the ANC, as it were, has been moving '\nth time - at a 
certain time because of the - the historical development of our 
struggle, the ANC has been moving all the time, taking into con­
sideration the important factor that we have got to move '\'lith the 
people - we have got to, whatever you do , all we do, we do it on 
behalf of our people - we have got -

They have got to understand reality - DO'\oT what is important is that 
our policies are very correct - they cannot be misunderstood by our 
people - it is only the .wrong policies that get misunderstood and 
that cause problems - the correct policies cannot be misunderstood, 
because you cannot fail to explain the correct thing, but the wrong 
thing you - you - you 'rill fail because you will try (?) many ways 
of explaining it, because it is wrong - you are not going to con­
vince people - you may convince people for a short period, but there 
cannot be an everlasting kind of an explanation, because '\'lith time 
people get to understand things themselves throughout their own 
experience. 

lvhat has happened, f'or an example, you have had groupings emerging -
one of these was the PAC at the beginning, w·hich felt the struggle 
'\oTas going to be, or was being hijacked by the 'oThites, the commun­
ists etc . - but '\'lhat is important is that the PAC never made any 
mark in the struggle absolutely - perhaps it existed for a year or 
so, in name even then - but ever since then PAC could not - when 
the repression came PAC was crushed - the name has remained. 
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J.Z. There is a long history about it. One of the reasons that the PAC 
failed was because it used policies that \vere not correct polici es 
in terms of the South African set-up. You have had, for an example, 
other groupings emerging - one of the current one is AZAPO at the 
moment - I don ' t think AZAPO exist in a serious \vay as an organisat ­
ion - I - I don 1 t kno\v the - the - the - the total number , but you 
will ahvays hear statements more than practical \vork and political 
campaigns being carried out against the boers . 

It is either the - just the statements lvhich have been made or you ' 11 
only hear AZAPO lvhen there ' s a clash betw·een individuals of AZAPO 
and the UDF - but what they do really against the system I ' ve never 
heard unfortunately, except just statements, as I said - a statement 
anybody can m~ce a statement - it ' s not a big issue to - to - to 
talk to (Laugh) - to the press people - but you - you - you - you 
see attempts to - to criticise our policy - it has never worked out . 

What again is important is that lvhen the .ANC moves with the people , 
if you took into consideration the 1985 consultative conference, 
there has been discussions - even in 1959 the .ANC discussed the issue 
of membership - it took a certain position then because the situation 
was at that level - in 1969, ten years after 1959, it discussed the 
issue at Horogoro and took specific decisions, and in 1985 - 1985 
it took a decision, lvhich decision opened even the national executive 
committee to all nationalities in South Africa. 

At that time no question could be raised, and this is ho\v the .ANC 
understands its policy and its people, because at that time no quest­
ion - perhaps if in 1959 the - the 1985 decision lvas taken, there 
could have been questions - but becaus e of understanding the mood 
and clarity and depth of politicisation of the masses it is - it 
ah-.rays took the correct decision at the correct time - it has never 
it has never raised any issue now - I thinl:: there is a total support 
of our people of the - the decision related to this question in 1985. 

But lvhat is important at this point in time is that this proves that 
the policy of the .ANC of non-racial policy is not just a slogan 
the ANC believes in this policy and it practices it -it- it ' s not 
a slogan to say - even to say after the - the - the - the liberation 
lve ' 11 then work together - it is actually the - the policy that the 
ANC is practicing nolv lvhen \ve are fighting for our liberation - also 
to prove the point that in fact all South Africans of all racial 
groupings or nationalities have a role to play in the struggle to 
liberate that country. 

You cannot say some lvill play the role at a different time - that is 
why \ve - ,..,.e eet in fact annoyed and disgusted by the kind of suggest­
ions from other people that you - you need to consider the position 
of the lvhites - in fact from the .ANC point of viel'l we feel that kind 
of politics is a backlvard politics - it is actually taking us back 
to - to the primitive political arc-uments - \vhy should we \vhen we 
don ' t look into the South African situation and solutions in terms 
of colour - why should we be brought back to the mentality of the 
backward boers to think in terms of colour - \ve - we can ' t under­
stand, and this is \vhat we are re.fusing to do. 

That is lvhy we - \ve do not even \vant to - to listen to suggestions 
that if the South African situation is resolved there could be some 
provisions of some lvhi tes - what for? 
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That is why we can't understand this question of' g roups sharing of' 
power - what is this g roup rights - liThy - \ie are all South Af'ricans 
and we believe in it, and ,.,e are prepared f'or this to discuss the 
issue \d th the South Af'ricans, and that's the reason \'lhy the ANC 
has - has never had problems to discuss ldth people w·ho have f'oWld 
an opportunity to discuss the ANC, ho''" the ANC looks at the situation­
be black, be lvhi te - because we don ' t f'ear and we - w·e - \ITe - we are 
very committed to our policy and - and - and we don't have problems 
to discuss our policy. 

We want a united non-divided South Af'rica, and South Af'rica belongs 
to all who live in it of' all colours, so \ 'le - ,.,e - \ITO - we theref'ore 
say in - in our O\m experience of' the movement and practical as in­
dividuals, we have gone through a process, a process \IThich makes us 
to f'oel in f'act insulted if' people are saying ,.,e - w·e must talk in 
terms of' colour - \vhy - '\re are theref'ore in - in - in- in a situation 
where in resolving our problems in South Af'rica ,.,e - we - \ve - we -
doesn't cross our mind in any way that the white person , you know, 
is somebody else - '\ITe are all South Af'ricans. 

We are very much a\'lare of' the f'act that t h e regime has used the col­
our and used the colour in terms of' dominating , and it has a history 
of' its O'\m - that ' s ,.,hy \ITe try to dissolve that kind of' mentality 
in our political \'IOrk, and we think \ITe have succeeded to a large 
extent, and that ' s \'lhy we don ' t \'lant this to be preached because it 
is harming our p eople - it is making our p eople to live in compart­
ments in the coWltry of' their own and - and theref'ore \ITO are clear 
,.,e don ' t \'/ant it. 

We want one South Af'rica where everybody participates equally (in­
terruption) 

Just to go ,.,ay back - just to make sure that I ' ve g ot it, did you -
you didn ' t mention about school - you \'lent to school? 

I said I didn ' t g o to school. 

At all? 

Ja (Laugh) 

So because of' your mother's situation and being moving around you 
never were able to get any f'ormal schooling ? 

Yes. 

And then when you said you joined SACTU, \'las that - what specif'ic 
Wlion or at what level did you join? 

Gene ral Workers Union. 

1vhich job ,.,ere you doing? 

By then I think I was ,.,orking in some grocery shop, the f'irst time -
and I think we did not have one union f'or that, so I joined General 
Workers Uhion - in f'act until later - in f'act some strang e (?) be­
cause even some f'actories I worked to in some places I always worked 
f'rom the General lvorkers Uhion - always f'ind that that kind of' f'act­
ory have not yet manag ed to have a union, unlike, f'or an example, we 
had Wlions like Railway lvorkers Union very specifically. 
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J . z. I work at - I worked at Robson Matting ••• • 

J . F . At where? 

J. z. Robson Matting, another factory - still I w·as - we w·ere sti ll trying 
to organise that (Laugh) - that factory - I got actually sacked be­
cause of' my SACTU ,.,ork there , so I - I - I generally went through 
this - I was very clear of my aims then because I understood trade 
unionism very ,.,ell and that the best was to have workers under a 
specific union , so ,.,e always worked towards where (?) then the poss ­
ibilities emerged we wi ll do so , but I - I - I also had that k i nd of' 
working in different places and therefore served more the General 
Workers Union , and I was there for more - I even tried to organise -
to organise at a certain stage . 

J.F . 

J . z. 

J . F . 

J . z. 
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I remember at one time I was helping to organise domestic workers , 
but never as a - as an of'ficial organiser - as part of my own en­
thusiasm - and I remember I was also sacked in one place I ' d organ­
ised workers - it ,.,as a small little company - I organised ,.,orkers 
there - I can ' t remember its name now unfortunately - I remember one 
Friday the pay - paymaster saying : lfe give you all your money , we 
don ' t need your services any more - so I tried to find out why (Laugh) 
what ' s l'lrOng - he said I must stand aside - then later he said no , 
the fellow , the induna fellow had told them that I ' d organised ,.,ork­
ers from , and I ' ve introduced '"orker to SACTU officers and the work­
ers they were getting spoiled ( Laugh) 

So it was one most enjoyable thing to be in SACTU - I think that 
helped me a great deal in terms of my political understanding and -
and understanding of the problems from the trade union movement 
point of view. 

Did you have any particular o.ffice - \'lere you an organiser , were you 
just a worker •••• 

Just a worker - just a worker, not - I did not have a specific off­
ice duties in SACTU. 

When did you join the youth league - do you remember what year it 
was that you joined youth league? 

I think it was about 1 58. 

And when who was the president in Natal then of the youth league? 

Of Natal- I can ' t remember( ••••••••• )- it has faded a'l'lay , those 
kind of ( • •• • ••• ••• • ) (Laugh) 

But '"hen - I guess what I ' m really interested in having you discuss -
maybe you might remember any anecdotes or anything that would help 
clarif'y how you sa'l'l it at the time , but • ••••••••••• •• • • 

END OF SIDE TWO. 
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J.F. • ••• in that they had had views which subsequently changed, but when 
you joined in '58- that was right before the PAC breakaway- there 
lias a whole - there '\vas almost ten years before - you were quite 
youn g then, but do you remember other people putting forth an Afric­
anist point of vieli and you disagreeing, or do you have any recoll­
ections of this being a talking point - I guess what I'm worried 
about is the lvay you explain it it seems almost flat, like it was 
so clear, you moved on, and I understand it, but I just would like 
to kn.O'\i the real circumstances. 

J.Z. The advantage was that by the time -by the late '50s debates had 

J.F. 

J.Z. 

J.F. 

J.z. 

J.F. 

gone on - this is - this is what - that's lihat had happened - debates 
about the Africanist - for an example, in the middle '50s we had the 
Africanist grouping , lvhich had been dealt with - we had the dissat­
isfactions of the PAC, which were being dealt with - so the argu­
ments within the ANC - I mean to those who were not sharing the views 
of the PAC, the thin gs were very clear, and because or that experience 
the - the poli ticisation lias aimed in fact at correcting that - and 
of course you - you also depends on - on the kind of people, I would 
imagine - in my case you had people like Stephen Dlamini, lihO were 
leaders of the liOrking class who liere responsible from a political 
development - people like Harry Gwala. 

So there was no - no room for - for any wrong politics really to -
to - so to put it - you - you - you got into a political area which 
had been travelled because the problems, for an example, that was 
there at the beginning of' the youth league of tho ANC had been re­
solved by that time, and no longer any problems, and 'lvhen you are 
talking of the - or the ' 50s when the founders of' the .ANC youth 
league, they themselves had been - had actually changed their views, 
so we - '\ve had no problems by that time. 

The only problem that emerged was the PAC, lihich we thought these 
'\vere mad people, and of course in 1\ atal PAC could not - could not 
even - even - even beein the process, partly I lrould (?) - I would 
say in my own vieli, you - you - you liere dealing lvith an area that 
had had such a - a kind of' influence from Luthuli that congress was 
congress - if you came lvi th any other thing people wouldn ' t under­
stand you. 

The PAC leadership attempted to have a meeting in Durban, and that 
meeting could not complete - they couldn ' t complete the meeting be­
cause firstly they could not answer the questions, and secondly 
they were told please, they must just move off. 

lfere you there at that meeting? 

Yes. 

What year was that? 

Can ' t remember whether it was '59 or- '59 or •6o - can't remember­
because they - they came to Natal because they knelv in Natal there 
was nothing moving in terms of' (Laugh) the PAC, so they came to this 
meeting - I just can't remember whether it lias 1 59 or - or . 

So for you w·hen you say lie saw them as mad people, were they mad 
people of the Transvaal, we don't have them here, or did you have a 
feli people lvho were PAC leaning but you thought they were not very 
clear ••• • 
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No, no, no, w·e - w·e did not have the problem at all - f'or example, 
the people I'm talking about had to come from Johannesburg to try 
and explain the PAC - we did not have comrades like it was the case, 
f'or example, in the Transvaal like the Hadzunyas - w·e did not have 
the comrades who turned (?) by the leadership and - and began to -
and began to organise f'or the PAC. 

I g uess - if' you're talking about the '70s you would admit probably 
that BC had some substance, that it was actually - you even said 
just no''~ that it helped people understand black - as black they're 
not going to get into the categories - did you have any sense - did 
you have any sympathy f'or some reason why they '\'IOUld - PAC people 
or Af'ricanist people '\'lould have that point of' vie,.,, that the idea 
of' Africans sticking together - did that ever - was that ever part 
of' your experience - or why wasn't it if' you think •••• 

It '\'lasn 1 t - to us it '\'las a - it was a very narrow kind of' political 
tendency - '\ofe actually called it a narrow kind of' nationalism as 
they expressed it - as a - as a - as a SACTU person , f'or an example , 
I remember very well because there - they - they. emerged a trade 
union lvhich sort of' aligned itself' lri th the PAC - even that trade 
l.Ulion '\'las - '\'las - its main leader (?) '\'las there called Nyaose , who 
was the PAC - '\'lhat w·as it called - FOFATUSA - '\ofe - in - in SACTU 
discussed this kind of' problems - ''~e didn 1 t understand '\'lhat - '\-rhat 
are these people trying to do, but it '\'las clear this trade - they 
were trying to get the '\oforkers from this ·point of' vie''~• 

So political '\'fork, even to further analyse this, '\'las being done - as 
I say, there was that kind of' habit in Natal of' political discussions, 
particularly in our generat ion, so we - we - we were able to talk 
about these things and l.Ulderstand them and I - I - the only thing I 
can say was - '\'las the problem was our anger, because '\ofe were very 
angry - '\ofe wanted to fight the boers - that was l'lhat I could say 
could - I could remember being youthful indeed - '\ofe thought we 
could even take the bush knives and fight, but not - not from the 
point of' vie''~ of' the PAC - it was just that we - '\'IC understood the 
boers don't understand, they need to be beaten up - so this revol­
utionary thing, this is what I could under - remember in - in my 
youth that I think '\'lOUld have meant actually thinking extreme in 
that kind of' '\'lay, not in terms of' political, you kno'\'l - in terms 
of' policy we didn ' t have a problem at all. 

But with you - that ' s interesting what you've just said that when (?) 
you sang the song The Laws of' Halan are Oppressing us, nnd you said 
'\'lho was this :t-1alan , did that not plant an understandi..n.g on your part 
at such an early age - surely they must have said to you he ' s a 
white man- do you remember that •••• 

Of' course - of' course they had said so . 

But - and when you said fight the boers, '\'las that fighting the whites 
and killing the '\'lhites or '\'las - I ' m just interested that that didn't 
transfer itself' to being an anti-white feeling - are you saying to 
me you never had an anti-white feeling? 

No , only - only - only before I got into politics - when that Malan -
that :r.ialan it '\'las before I was ten, so I gre'\'l up '\'lith an l.Ulderstand­
ing kno,ofing I mean not only - not only in politics. 
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J. Z . It ,.,as a general talk that our country 1ms taken by the ,.,hi tes, so 
before politics you had that teaching from - even from - even when 
I was in the rural area - the Nicandla area, for an example, where 
I come from, where my father· comes from, is an area ,.,here the Bam­
batha 1var ended - there is - when I gre1.; up I remember very distin­
ctly from my mother ' s- my father ' s uncle ' s place there ,.,as an old 

J . F . 

man 1.;ho ,.,as a young man during the Bambatha W'ar - he ,.,as still living. 

There was again another woman at another Ndlovu (?) area who was also 
a young g irl during the B~nbatha War - they actually saw it - they 
used to tell us stories - that ,.,.as the battle bet1..reen the Africans 
and the 1.;hites, and you - you grow up with that kind of hatred - it -
it 1 s 1..rhat you get - it 1 s '\'lhat you get to know - you get to lmow about 
Dingaan ' s ,.,.ars, so that one - I ' m not saying before getting into pol­
itics ,.,e don ' t get - this is how the - the South African Africans 
are - are actually - if they do get to lmo1.; about oppression , that ' s 
how it is explained as you - as you - as you grow up . 

'fhen , for an example, I asked who is this Halan , there ,.,as no problem 
to put the kind of political context , ,;rhether by my granny or whoever­
they understood there is some Halan who has taken - 1..rho is oppressing 
us clear - that "'lvas clear from the "'lvhi te kind of ( •••••••• ) - but 
I ' m talking about the period ,.;hen I enter into formal politics , that 
inunediately correct politics is then taught , so ,.,hatover you might 
have heard (had) even when you are gro1.;ing up is - is - is put into 
shape - you begin to understand things properly. 

So not as to say you never though of it at the - I mean thought of 
it prior to getting into politics - but having been politicised, 
then finding people firstly 1.;ho disagree ,.,i th the policies of the 
.ANC , this is where the problem is ,.,i th the PAC , because they did 
not start by disagreeing with it earlier on - th~disagree with the 
organisation , so they become a disruptive force 1cithin the movement , 
and in their disruptiveness they begin to articulate policies ,.,hich 
are nc1..r policies - "'lve - ,.,e never had that kind of - of - of madness. 

'{e - w·e took it as madness because they 1..rere saying they want to 
drive the l..rhites to the sea , the ,.,ant to butcher them - and we 
couldn • t - couldn ' t settle in our minds - no1.; - now I think what 
we should appreciate is that this is a tendency that suddenly dev­
elops within a policy that has been understood by generations, and 
then you suddenly say : But why, what's happening - and you don ' t 
understand this . 

As I say, because of that you - you have the - the Luthulis , the 
leaders of the ANC, t~cing advantage of the situation in explaining 
further - in actual fact their explanations being made in order to 
prevent any damage or harm d one by this mad kind of policy, so yo u 
have that kind of a situation . 

I think that ' s a good - I understand that -I don ' t mean to focus 
too much on the PAC as much as the idea - I don ' t 1.;ant to belabour 
this because( ••••••••••• ) discuss it, but just the last thing is 
to say the idea that you ,.,ould grow up 1cith this clear anti-1oThite -
Bambatha up to Halan , and then one day you get clear politics and 
you can suddenly see the difference bet,.,een a boer and Denis Gold­
bercr - now how· did that happen - do you - maybe that '\'las just '\oThen 
you were so young - it seems like you 1.;ere politicised at quite a 
young age, but if you can tell me anything about ho1.; that changed . 
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J . F . How one day you "'vere a yoLU'lg guy who had - when you said the r ural 
area perceptions about "'vhites to then getting clear? 

J.Z . I - I actually explained at the beginning that my first period that 
I can remember is when my mother was "'vorking , when I "'vas not allo"'ved 
even to enter , and I had that kind of relationship. - it ' s - in a dd­
ition to that you - you - yo u then have a situation "'vhere you - y o u 
kno"'v you don ' t belong together because that is a kind of thing which 
has been preached - but of course when I talk of the whites that you 
meet in the movement - I say I attended some of the meetings even 
"'vhen I "'vas still a small boy , and I "'vill be seeing the "'vhite people 
speaking and - and talki ng about oppression , right - and around that 
time in fact the speeches were very , very , very , very hot - people 
were swearing a t the (Laugh) - at the government , and they ,.,ere also 
swearing at the government , so you realise the difference - because 
here is a white person articulating the problems that we (you) hav e , 
talking about the misery, the su~fering of the Africans , and you 
realise this one is a different one from the ones that I kn.Olv• 

J . F . 

J.z . 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J.F . 

It did not cause a problem seriously in my O"'m mind - I - I don ' t 
remember it cuasing a problem - l just remember myself saying this 
one is not like others, he ' s different - because the very message 
that was delivered by the comrades was a different one . 

'fere there any specific non-African people that helped you because 
of their - l'lhat they said or their involvement that helped you kind 
of move ~aster just by seeing them \vho impressed you a lot? 

Well , not - not basically - I - I - I - people who impressed me a 
lot are the names I have mentioned , like Stephen Dlamini, Harry 
G"'valas, because they had politics that dissolved many things , that 
cleared many things and made the world to look very clearly - "'ve do 
we did have ,.,hi te comrades ,.,rho were participating in - in - in - in 
Natal~ for example , like Rowley Arensteins at- at the time( • ••••• 
••• • • } at the time- quite a number of other quite I mean- I mean 
white comrades "'vho were there part of, but not that they - I mean 
in - in - in - in the sense of a specific thing. 

Rolvley Arenstein , for an example, as a la"''/Yer - he '\'las very loved 
at the time by the African because he defended a lot of political 
cases - he "'vas a good la"''/Yer - in fact he "'vas nicknamed by - by 
Africans - they "'vere calling - ,.,i th his beards they were calling 
him Ujebe, beards - no"''l this "'vas a kind of a man who - who from his 
O"'m at the time general conduct had no problems and - and people 
understood him , and this was ( is) one thing in South Africa, that 
once even if a person is white , once he operates with the people , 
people don't have a problem. 

I think the example of Joe Slovo today, that every person in South 
Africa sings about, is - is a classic one - that once the - the 
actions of a comrade are seen by people they recognise it as - for 
for his contribution - they - they don ' t look at the colour - so 
you had that kind of a problem - I mean this is what I can say. 

Do you think that the lack of any base for the PAC in Natal or any 
Africanist sentiment had anything to do "'vith the fact that the PAC 
seems to have been very not only anti-white and anti-communist but 
anti-Indian? 

Of course yes . 

Was that a factor • • •• 
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J . z. There '"aa that kind of a - of a problem - they were anti everything, 
anti-whites, anti-Indians, anti-ANC and - and - and these were prob­
lems because here you - '"e were in the place '"here the Indian comm­
I.Uli ty '"as concentrated - we had worked lri th them for many years -
and you couldn 1 t be anti-.ANC because they emerge as anti-ANC and -
and - and in Natal it was - it '"as impossible to - to have the -
that is '"hy they did not have a case to present , and they did not 
even have a chance to '"hisper to people to try to win people quietly -
it was just impossible . 

J.F. Do you remember- again you ' re so much younger than some of the things 
I ' m talking about, but it '"ould be interesting to see how it filtered 
do\m - when the rest of Africn was getting its independence - Ghana ' s 
and Kenya ' s, do you remember people talking about Mau Mau people 
talking about independent Africa and - is that ( ••••••••• ) for you? 

J.z. Yes, I remember it very well- very '"ell. I remember that Hau f.1au 
had a serious impact at my early age - in fact I remember when I was 
already in politics \\•hen w·e were still preaching non-violence, some 
of us yoi.Ulg people '"c '"ere thinkin g we needed to hit them, and '"hy 
can 1 t '"e imitate t-1au Hau (Laugh) and - and '"e were taken up by f.1au 
Hau - I must say I was taken up by Hau Hau - the - the Ghana what 
you call incident, for an example, lihen Ghana got free, one of the 
person who made this is - it's brother of a man I '"as talking about, 
whom I said lias preaching a lot. 

I remember I "tias - I lias - I was in - in Zululand at - at that point 
in time - he came and he liaS over the moon about Ghana - congress was 
just over the moon and - and - and one bee-an to see this liaS one ad­
vantage because my - my - my brother used to talk a lot in general 
terms - I mean he "tias not necessarily .that he was a depolitician -
I mean he lias the man liho 1 11 talk about thing-s in general and - and -
and ho,, strong congress liaS - a lot of songs he used to sing for us, 
so he - he - he made me aliare . 

~' I remember him speci.fically - he ' s the one who (we) used to love be-
, '('~" 1\v-' cause if' he had an opporti.Uli ty he used to - to take a little bit -

' ,-.. ;.1e. t>- if it lias nice and cut (?) he will talk very nice, and I used to 
,. o\t.' ~~ like - to love listening to him talking about the liberation of 

\ \~ Africa - so '"hen I got into - into - into - into the thing the 
s~ .. ~L question of Congo , for an example, the Lumumba incident had serious 
~ indelible kind of '~i tings in my mind . 

J . F . 

The - the - the - the speeches by the - the HacHillans about the wind 
of change, I mean those l..rere big things as they were happening at -
at - at that time as we were moving on, and we believed - '"e believed 
at the time that that \..rind of change was actually coming - I mean 
liberation \ITas being seen coming do'm - \ihy not affect South Africa -
and I think that in a way also helped to propel the militancy of the -
of' the time. 

But why didn ' t it propel you into the Africanist area, because a lot 
of the kind of conventional history explains the PAC or the African­
ism as being a response to that, that ( •••••••••••• ) '"o uld be in 
response to Hau Hau - '"hen you were getting all enchanted with t>fau 
f.1au did anyone older or more experienced from the ANC say : Look, no , 
we ' re not going to do it that way - or did you ever t ry to say : 
Look, '"e must do it - '"hy didn ' t it translate it sel.f into more of an 
Africanist feeling for you? 
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J . z. I - it couldn ' t do so because the influence of the South African pol­
itics were different •• •• 

J . F . 

J . Z . 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J • F . 

J . z. 

J . F . 

You felt South Africa was different? 

No , no , no, I ' m saying because the situation was different we c ouldn ' t 
get that - for an example , with Mau Hau ,.,e did not hav e the details -
we heard ~iau Hau had been f i ghting - Kenyatta ,.,as leading the people 
who were fighting there - you did not have all the details of how 
the things \vas being done , so you - you - you got impressed with these 
people lvho - who go to the bush and fight - the question of African­
ist thing would not emerge as a serious problem. 

Now you see , the key to this is how the PAC emerges - if perhaps one -
when one came into politics you had these tlvo historic tendencies i t 
would be a different thing - the problem with the PAC is that it 
tries to cut across a t r adition of politics - it tries to cut across 
a deliberate politicisation of our people to be more progressive -
it tal{.es them backlvards and - and that ' s lvhere the problem becomes 
because you - you - you try to look at - and it - and - and - and -
and it ,.,as very crude - very crude . 

They \vere saying : 'ive lvant to kill all the lvhites and send them to 
sea - that (they) couldn ' t appeal in any way, absolutely . 

And what about the idea that if you looked at the rest of Africa they 
weren ' t mentioning Indians or whites or Coloureds - they were just 
talking about Africans - and yet in congress you allvays had a sense 
of the other race groups or nations - \vhy did you think that was , or 
did you just feel \vell , South Africa is just not like Ghana - we have -
our \'lhi te people are here to stay - did you ever • ••• 

I don ' t think to me it ever occurred seriously that they ,.,ere not 
even talking about Indians - I don ' t think- I don ' t think- I don ' t 
remember - I can ' t remember thinking about it - it just did not occur 
as a big issue - I just saw liberation there , and it really did not 
occur that this is supposed to be fought by specific people, because 
even in terms of the - our own development I never had a problem 
that ,.,e are fighting the struggle thn the - the Africans had to be 
liberated - I mean that did not cause a problem that therefore I 
must begin to differentiate . 

Of course you should remember that as - as early as in the • 4os this 
unity thing bet\veen the - the - the South African Indian Congress 
and the ANC they had come together ( ••••••• ) - so we had had a long 
thing and a lot of political lvork done in - in explaining and - and 
and even arriving at that , you kno,., , so ,.,e didn ' t have problems . 

Do you- did you remember people talking about 1 49, the race riot of ••• 

I sa,., it - not only talking about it , I sa,., it - I saw· the fires 
burning . 

In Cato Hanor or •••• 

I \vas at Stanger at the time - I - I lvas - I was at Cato Manor and 
moved to Stanger immediately . 

So lvhat do you remember of it? 
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J . z. Really , ... hat I remember it was j ust confusion , and all I remember i s 
when I '\'las at Hapumolo you could still see the fires burni ng - I 
mean the - the sort of the reflection of the big fires - and of 
course at that time I mean I was very small - very , very smal l - I 
don 1 t kn0'\'1 what happened - but later after that I - I - one go t the 
stories '\'lhat happened - but funny enough people have never , ... anted 
to talk about it very open - I mean in the sense that anybody can 
just start talking about it . 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J . F . 

J . Z. 

J . F . 

J .z. 

People seem to hav e - t o be ver y c onsci ous that this - that was -
thi s has been my impression - i t was not a good thing - and I thi nk 
it ' s likely (?) to be the -be c ause of the political work t hat was 
done thereafter , because I ' ve nev er found people sitting and talki ng 
about it in a - in a - w·hat you call - people don ' t like talki ng 
they - they think it '\'las a - an unfortunate - you - you get that 
feeling it was an unfortunate incident . 

But it didn ' t take on a life of its O\ID to you of this - you see this 
as \'lhat the Indians do to the Africans or this is the - they can ' t 
live together , they( ••••••• ) these riots- a lot of Indian people 
grew up \rlth the i r reactionary or non-political relatives saying : 
Remember 1 49 , the Africans will ,.,ant to kill you in your bed kind 
of thing. 

Yes , I ' m sure they have got a point to feel like that , because I 
think that incident had a lot damage on the Indian side , I think so -
a lot - property , everything - I - I think there is - there is a 
reason why they should remember it all the time - I remember in 
1961 '\'lhen we had a meeting coinciding lvi th the celebration of the 
Tanzanian independence, and also on the same day I think Chief 
Luthuli \vas just receiving his N abel Peace Prize , and \ve had a -
a meeting in Durban , nnd I remember in the middle of some speech 
somebody ,.,ho \vas an Indian raising a hand, listening to this nice 
speech and sayin,g : As , ... e are talking !1ere, lvhat about 19_29 - and 
nobody could pay attention to him , and people said : No , no , forget , 
it ' s - it ' s - he may - he may not be very normal - and nobody could 
just like to be listening to that and - and people said : Look , if 
you don 1 t l'lant to be in the meeting you can g o out . 

So nobody has politically - nobody has - has - has been lvanting to 
be discussing that kind of an issue - I think my impression is that 
people feel it lvas an - an unfortunate incident . 

Just \vhat you lvere saying, you lvere in SACTU and you 1vere still in 
the .ANC - first the youth league and then the .ANC proper - and then 
it was banned - and you were arrested in • 63? 

:t-1mm. 

And what exactly ,.,ere you charged and sentenced for? 

1vell , the - the broad thing was conspiracy, but of course I was arr­
ested - I couldn ' t deny my :r.nc involvement because I l'las arrested on 
my l'lay out of South Africa - we were actually coming out for milit­
ary training - so I \vas arrested , charged for conspiracy, conspiring 
to overth.rolv the government by violent means , and also charged for 
furthering the aims of the banned organisation - there ,.,ere a number 
of kind of - of - of counts , but that lvas basically the thing 
leaving the country - attempting to leave the country lrithout the 
proper documents - that was one of the counts . 
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J. Z. So that was the kind of case and - and therefore it 'tiTas more J.IK and 
ANC kind of' activities . 

J . F. And that decision to commit yourself to joining :t-IK - '\IThat did you 
have - what idea did you have that you w·ere going to do - did that 
in any way - I guess '\-Jhat I ' m trying to establish is there ' d be a 
lot of' people liThO • d think your idea 'tiTas to get a gun and come back 
and kill the w·hites - by then in your recruitment and in your in­
volvement '"ere you clear that you '"ere '"orkine ri th other races or 
'"as it there any element of anger and bitterness , especially given 
the events up till • 63? 

J. z. I had my seniors liTho '"ere - who were not only Africans , who were -
'"ho were Indians and ,.,hitcs in the ~1K , so I did not have a problem, 
and as you kno'"' }fiC was very careful in terms of' tareets - a very 
deliberate policy to sabotage government installations avoiding 

J . F . 

J . F. 

J .z. 

J.F . 

J. z. 

J . F. 

lifo - so it 1-1as not aeain going to be a total war that '\-JB don • t 
understand just killing 'tiThites , but '"e '"ere going out - at the point 
of going out for military training to come back and conduct a revol­
ution to talce po,.,er, so the main thing was to take po,.,er really 
rather than to kill '\IThites. 

And did you ever figure out if getting caught had to do 1nth an in-
former or •••••••••••••• 

END OF SIDE ONE . 

• • • • stage? 

Well , it ' s difficult to tell that , but certainly ,.,e - we ,.,ere arr­
ested - we did not want to be arrested and 1-re would like to - to 
try different reason (?) whatever, whatever, w·hatever it means - it 
was very difficult , but of course there ,.,ere quite a number of people 
liTho were involved and who are leaving ,.,ho ended up giving evidence , 
but no-one had ever admitted that he '\-ras responsible for our arrest, 
but ,.,e are - 'tve are - '"e are still trying to - to - to - to - to 
discover really 'tiThat '\vent wrong that led to our arrest . 

I guess •••• 

There had been rumours - I mean these rumours are ab'l"ays there - I 
'\vouldn' t like to discuss the rumours ( Laugh) 

The reason I ask it is because it seems that possibly one aspect , 
kind of the flip side of me asking all these ques tions about whites 
or Indians or non-Africans is to see that nn African could just as 
easily be a collaborator - that it isn ' t that if you ' re w·hite you ' re 
a system and if you' re black you ' re goine to be on the right side -
if that had anything to do '\nth understanding non-racialism in a 
more negative way - I ' ve intervie,.,ed people 'tvho 1 ve said Hatanzima 
taught us about non-racialism - he 'tvas on the '\vrong side and he was 
black, that kind of' thing, so that was the reason I asked that . 
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J .z. Ja , L.mf'ortl.Ulately in my arrest nothing could be pinned to any white 
person or Indian really . 

J.F. I meant the other '\vay, that if' it '\vas a black '\vho had sold you out 
that that sho,vs that you can't be racialistic about it. 

J.Z . I - I mean- I mean one of' the things, f'or an example , is that people 
who - '\vho gave evidence in - in my case 1vas not a (Laugh) - a single 
lvhite or Indian I mean except the- the people lvho were driving (?) 
lvho knew nothing '\vere merely the drivers of' the cars that '\ve were 
arrested in , but generally it '\vere the Af'ricans who gave evidence 
and - and - and some of' them who had been in the ANC, so there was 
nothing in terms of' racial thing that emerged in - in our case ab­
solut ely. 

J . li". And had you - do you think you ' d come to grips '\vith the idea of' going 
to prison before that - had that been something you ' d worked through, 
that getting caught •••• 

J .z. Oh , yes , definitely - '\vhen - when sabotage started , and in South 
Africa the sabotage la1vs were piloted, '\ve '\vho were in HK we knew 

J.F . 

J . z. 

J.F. 

J. z. 

J . F. 

J . z. 

J , F . 

it was a question of either torture t o death or going to pri son or 
dying in the process of' the revolution - I think 1ve were ready - '\ve 
'\vere ready f'or '\vhat w·e - we might - that is 1vhy even when we were 
g iven ten years '\ve did not - we did not regret - '\ve knew we - this 
was coming in any '\vay, and I think that 1 s partly the reason why ten 
years did not demoralise some of' us - immediately after prison we 
continued - I think it was because we '\vere clear '\vhat '\vas happening. 

1ve '\vere politic ally clear - we had been prepared f'or it - and I think 
also the very recruitment, lvhich was very selective at the time , 
other '\vords (?) looking at the people '\vho '\vere - who '\vere involved 
politically , helped a great deal in terms of' g etting the - that kind 
of' the .first layer , '\vhich '\vas quite determined and very clear . 

1vere you g oing to S'\.;aziland when you '\vere picked up? 

You mean 1 63? 

Ja . 

No, not Swazi - S'\vaziland '\vas more of' a problem - there was no Hoz­
ambique by then (Laug h) so you ' d have g one to the Portuguese - you ' d 
be skinned alive there - not at all - I '\vas arrested not very f'ar 
from the Bots'\vana borders in the area called Zeerust . 

And at that time ,.;ere they giving ten years f'or just recruitment or 
was that - '\vas your case standing out or w·ere people routinely gett ­
ing such heavy sentences f'or just leaving the col.Ultry? 

Not - it 1vas not leuvin t; the col.Ultry only - '\ve are leaving - attempt­
ing to leave the col.Ultry, conspiring to overthrow the government by 
v iolent means - it mero1t a lot - they then detailed '\vhat they meant 
by that , so it '\vas a big case - I mean '\ve - '\ve had in other areas , 
f'or an example , like in P . E . people g ot ten years just by member­
ship or :futhering the aims of' the banned org anisation - the regime 
'\vas attomptine; to :frighten people, which (?) '\vas the main thing . 
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J.Z. lve w·ere defended by t-.;vo advocates , t-1r. Herr and Hr. Kerr(?) - we 
couldn ' t cet the best ive 1 d have lvanted to, big names , because at 
the same time Rivonia trial was on ·'llhilst I ,..,as also on (Laugh) -
but they "\vere crood. 

J . F . What month w·erc you picked up? 

J.z. June. 

J .F. So did you hear about 1Uvonia ,..,hen you -.;,·ere inside? 

J.z. lvhcn- ,..,e only heard i'lhen ,..,e ,..,ere inside that Rivonia has been arr­
ested - that they ' ve been arrested. 

J . F . lvas that quite demoralising? 

J. z. It ,..,as a serious blo-.;.., to us - we f'el t it - we did not ,..,ant our lead­
ership to be arrested, so we felt the blo,.., - but lve kne,.., that is not 
the end of' the story. 

J .F. And ho,.., many ,..,ere there in your case - ho,.., many ,..,ere you picked up 
i'li th? 

J. z. No, when we ,..,ere picked up we ,..,ere 50 plus - I can ' t remember whether 
there ivere 52 or ,..,hatever in number, but ivhen lve \vere being tried 

J.F. 

J.z. 

J.F. 

J . z. 

the big bulk of' the 50 in fact was not charged because in some areas 
some were just recruits - \ve ,..,ere sifted and those who had been in 
the movement, in ~~ a long time, they had to be charged - quite a 
number of young people ivho ,..,ere innocent were made to be witnesses 
with evidence ivhich ,..,as nothing because they knew nothing - but we 
were put together ,..,i th other comrades ivho were not caught on the way -
as you remember, there was a mass arrest of 1963 - so the enemy att­
empted to put us to{;"ether with other old comrades ,..,ho ,..,ere then 
brought into our case , who had been recruiting other people, who 
were also part of some underground structures , so it - our - in our 
case it became a mixture of' those ivho ivere attempting to leave, but (?) 
old ANC - and w·ho had been active, and those ,..,ho -.;.,rere inside but had 
been active. 

So it ,..,as no longer the group that ,..,as leaving only - lve \vere com­
bined with other comrades . 

So are there any other names that you could mention at the trial was 
with(?) -or were there any of' the older people that •••• 

Oh, ja, there lvere - there were people like Lombard Hbatha, who was 
in fact, I think, the main person in our case - he actually got 20 
years, but he ' s out no,.., - we had people like Phillip Matthews -
those ,..,ere older comrades - quite a number of' - Caleb Hosabe from -
these I ' m counting ,..,ere :from Johannesburg - quite a number from Jo­
hannesburg - and then ,..,e had Caleb t-losabe from Bloemfontein, Orange 
Free State - ive had people like lvuna - I can 1 t remember the case 
from lfestern Cape - lfuna - and t-1attheiv t-ldaba •••• 

lvuna, holv do you spell that? 

Wuna - I know there is lv is this Xhosa - 1·/una , it could be W - his 
son has been active in the trade unions in the 1vcstern Cape in fact 
but he got discharged . 
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J . z. People like John N kadimeng, the one '\\Tho's general secretary of SACTU 
in (?) the same case, but he got discharged in our case - he got 
charged for something else (Laugh) which was ( ••••••••• ) ja- John 
N kadimeng was in our case too. 

J.F. Were there any non-Africans? 

J. Z. No - in that one , no, we were all Africans there - '\<Then we were fin­
ishing our 90 days - in fact (?) when we '\'ll'ere charged '"'e '"'ere a big 
number just to be charged now to be out of' 90 days - when '"'e appeared 
for the first time in the magistrate before '"'e were sifted in diff­
erent cases, '\'ll'e actually appeared l'lith Andrew· Mlangenis and Hotsoal­
edis were in the same big group of - of course later '"'ere sifted -
they were taken to Rivonia - Lombard Hbatha '"'as - the judges said 
was - he '\'ll'as supposed to have gone with them to Rivonia, but he re­
mained with us . 

J .F. So you '"'ere actually picked up as you '\-rere crossing the border? 

J . Z . No, no, before . 

J . F. As you l'll'ere eoing •••• 

J . Z. J a, tO>'Il'ards the border - that ' s why '"'e had to question ,.,hy. 

J . F. And then you '"'ent right to Robben Island? 

J . z . Yes - sentenced in 1963 , December, and then same December , I think 
arotmd betlveen Christmas and New Year, if not Christmas Day, or New 
Year ' s Day - I can ' t remember - we '"'ere - 29 or Chris - N e'"' Year's 
Day '"'c 't'll'ere actually transported to a prison near Johannesburg, near 
Alexander, called Leeul-rkop, so in Harch - in !\larch '\'ll'e 't'll'ere then 
transferred to Robben Island . 

J . F . So by the time you g ot there the Rivonia p eople '\vere there? 

J. z. No, they '\vere - they '"'ere - they were - they remained - they - they 
were only sentenced or convicted in 196h, so they found us already 
on Robben Island . 

J . :F'. So was that the first time that you met Handela and Sisulu or had 
you heard them speru~ before? 

J . z . 

J.F. 

J . z . 

J . F. 

J.Z . 

J . F. 

J . z. 

J . F. 

J .z. 

I 1 d heard them speak, for an example , in Pietermaritzburg Nelson Nan­
dela. 

At the All-in - at the All-in conference? 

Ja, in Pietermaritzburg •••• 

Did you hear him speak then •••• 

Yes •••• 

At that famous speech? 

Yes (Laue;h) - yes - '"'e lvere doing the singing do·Nn there (Laugh) 

So had you seen him before that? 

Not before that . 
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J . F . So did he come across as some incredi ble - apparently it ,.,as quite 
dramatic how he came out . 

J . Z . Oh , yes - oh, yes - oh, yes , it was - it \'las- it \vas - it was a b ig 
thing :for us because w·e kne,., he \vas underg-round , so \..rhen he emer ged 
it \..ras a b i g thing - very serious - oh, it was a big thing . 

J . F . And then when you came to the Island and you •••• 

J . Z . We met them first in Pret ori a in the prison ,.,bere ,.,e were detai ned 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J . F . 

J . Z . 

J . F . 

we - \..re actually mixed \vi th them , except Nandela - \ve only saw h i m 
and we met h i m in the corri dors etc ., but the whole group even be­
fore Sisulu was given his six years , because he was hiding from s ix 
years - be:fore he ,.,as remov ed from us '"'e were doing exercises to­
gether 1'/ith them - and then he was separated, then became a prisoner , 
now he will exercise at t he time \'lith Nelson nnd ,.,ould \ve ' d be -
Nelson \..rould come at times and ( •••• • ••••• ) talk to the warders 
there , of course trying to - to see us , but 1ri th others we \vere e x­
ercising with them , all of them - Hlangeni , Hotsoaledi , those , we 
were \..ri th them - we were staying wi th them in our cells all the t ime 
until they were shifted to Ri vonia , those t1v0 . 

But the other group that \vas arrested, because Hlangeni and ~fotsoal­
edi ,.,ere not arrested at Rivonia - they ,.,ere detained separately, 
but they then joined the Rivonia group, but Hhlaba , Sisulu , Mbeki , 
Kathrada, \ve all - even their disguise - their disguises had not yet 
gone off (Laugh) some of them - so we exercised \'lith them a n umber 
of - for - for some time at the same hall twice a day, nnd were able 
to converse and - and discuss with them, so by the time they came to 
Island we had been with them in Pretoria, 

I ' m \vondering 1..rhen you came to the Island in •64 , it seems there 1vere 
masses o:f ( • • • •••• • ••• ) people •••• 

Oh , yes - oh, yes - oh , yes , a lot of them . 

So did you get exposed to them and speak to them? 

Oh, yes . 

And \..rhat \vas that like - did you since - did you try to discuss pol­
itically 1rith them- did you try to persuade ••• • 

At f i rst - at first - at :first we couldn ' t because they '"ere just -
they 1..rere doing funny thing - I mean they \vcre discussing us and 
tryinc; to discuss their politics by discussing us nnd sw·earing at 
our loaders and all - \..re had to exercise a lot of patience f'or almost 
bvo years until 1ve decided to reply and then silenced them , f'or -
f'or a long time , because 1ve thought it :r1ore of a provocation than 
anythinc; , because they 1vere - they would - 1vhen Rivonia 1vas still 
on they ,.,ould dis cuss it , and they had their O\'lll - some of them -
their 01-m. \vi shes about them , which \\·ere very negative, and 1ve dec­
ided ,.,e did not \vant to discuss \vi th them because they '"ere merely 
provoking us and 1vc did - 1..re \'ll'ere not ready to get into unnecessary 
con.flicts 1'li th them . 

So you didn ' t see any - did you feel that any of' them you persuaded 
to your point of' vie"t-1, or did you have any serious discussions about 
Africa •••• 
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J . z. Later on 1-1e did have discussions - I mean 1v-hen 1-1e replied to them 
and then told them they \V"ere telling lies to those ,.,ho did not l<nolv­
their f'ollolv-ers - thereafter they - there 1v-ere actually those who 
lv-ho appreciated our plight (?) and there 1v-erc those 1v-ho were keen 
to join, and they 1v-ere beaten up (Laugh) by some of' them, so lv-e -
we - we - 1v-e - we discussed lri th them later very seriously and - and 
had serious - and - and - and after reality became reality. 

J . F . How did they deal 1rith Handela - did they ever have - I g uess he lV"as 
maybe separated , but the leader, the big leaders - there lv-ere the 
Rivonia people , did they have any chance to put their vielv- across to 
the PAC people or Poko people , or ,.,as there not much interaction? 

4 
J. Z . No , there 1v-asn' t much interaction , and again I mean there lv-asn 1 t much­

I mean we - 1v-e did more of' that later in - in - in the main sec t ion 

J . F . 

J . Z. 

o.r - of' - of' having some discussions 1v-i th them, and - and - and -
and some o:f them realised and saw the point , and some became good 
friends and I - I have good friends in the PAC 1v-hich developed there­
after (Laugh) - if' 1v-e meet we are just excited - just in this coun­
try 1v-hen I w·as here recently, you l<no1v-, I met someone in the airport 
1v-ho 1v-as there - oh, he jumped and the comrades '\v-ere w·ondering who is 
this one - he jumped for me - quite a number of them have been jump­
inc for me here . 

One thing '\V"hich 1v-as clear after a (?) time , 1v-e faced hardships to­
gether 1ri th them - ,.,e '\'lent through, and they got to l<no,., us better , 
and ho1v- determined ,.,e ,.,ere because we - w·e carried out other strugg­
les in prison and - and again the struggle in prison 1-las interpreted 
differently at the beginning - they did not >~Tant to fight conditions 
in prison - their point was being that they are arrested to fight i ng 
the country, for the country, to liberate the country , not to - to -
to fight the struggle about food. 

But >ll'e persisted and later they had to join us and the - so l'le - thy 
al"\v-ays realised things afterwards - we - ,.,e - we related socially as 
friends and - and then later started talking a bit about politics , 
and of' course they ,.,ouldn 1 t have any argument - just adamant on their 
things , and many of them, in any case, had gone there as very young 
people , so they '"ere depending on a f'e>IT of them - it ' s an issue 
which >v-e generally don 1 t lll'ant to provoke discussions 1rith - we have 
been in the past and we don 't - '"e did not '"ant to be discussing them­
to be quarrelling 11Ti th them - what :for? 

rhat I s '"hy we - '"e - we allowed them for something like t'\'io years 
and afterwards ,.,e decided to - to reply, because they '"ere mixing 
things - talking nbout things they don 1 t l<n0\11' - our history they 
didn 1 t l<now - the relations bet\ll'een the .A!.'i'C and the party 1-rhich t hey 
loved , that propaganda from the enemy it \'las just their thing . 

'fuy do you think that oppressed black people get into anti- communism -
did you get any insight from them as to \~That - 11Thy they \V"ould be •••• 

Propaganda from the enemy - it ' s importa:n.t to l<n01-1 the - the - hol"/ 
the PAC came about - l"lllat 1-1as strange was one o:f the meeting that 
discussed the formation of' the PAC was actually at the USA inform­
ation centre - '\"le don ' t lmow w·hy - what 1-1as the connection - it is 
ac-ain strange that '\"/hen our - our leaders 1-1cre being arrested for 
treason and charged by the enemy that the Freedom Charter ,.,as a 
conwunist document , the PAC was saying exactly the same thing in -
in the ' 50s . 
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J . z. It l'las charging the Freedom Charter as a conununistic document - they 
l'lcre saying one and exactly the same thing ldth the - lvith the - with 
the- ,rith the Nationalist Party regimes - l'le don ' t kno, .. l'lho -who is 
, .. ho w·i th there (?) - , .. ho is the friend of' ''~ho , and - and l'lhy should 
they say exactly one and the same thing, particularly l'lhen it comes 
to this thing of' communism. 

J . F . 

J.z. 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J .F. 

J. z. 

J.F. 

J . z. 

J . F . 

J.Z. 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J.F. 

J . z. 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J . F. 

J . z . 

They w·ouldn't use the l'IOrd comrade - I ' m sure they are using it here 
in Zimbabl'le because (Laugh) ZANU use the l'/Ord com - they didn't use 
it - th~o( hated it - it lvas a communistic thing - they use the \'lord 
mnumzane, l'lhich means mister in our language - that t s holv they - they 
address one another (Laugh) because they are avoiding comrade. 

And then did you ever know Eddie Daniels - Eddie Daniels that •••• 

Unity Movement? 

Yes . 

Yes, l'le sal'/ • ••• 

Al"tl-1 he l'las - lvasn ' t he Ailll? 

This •••• 

African Resistance }-1ovement - did you see - did you 1010l'l• ••• 
~ 

Not - no, no , no, not Abdusa? 

No , be was the only Coloured member of' the Liberal Party •••• 

Oh , yes - he came, but he was in the other section - j a , ja, I rem­
ember nOl'l • , 

\ 

So did you lmOl'l Abdusa and Unity :t-lovement people also? 

Yes, the Neville Alexanders found us there, his group. 

Did you ever dialogue l'lith them? 

1fe had some discussions l'lith them - not serious dialogue - some dis­
cussions l'lith them - some stayed l'lith us in our section :for a long 
time - they l'lould discuss here and there - Alexander, but didn t t 
stay much - he , .. ent to the isolation section a:fter some time, to the -
Handela 1 s side . 

Then you , .. ere released in '73? 

' 73, December . 

And l'lere you - did you have any restrictions on where you could go? 

No , no restrictions at all . 

So where - you \vent to Durban? 

I l'lent to Durban, but they did not want to release me in Durban -
they diverted me from another - from the uhole group in .Pietermaritz­
burc; and released me in the area I mentioned earlier on, Nicandla, 
and said to me I l'lill see to myself hOl'l I reach Durban ( Laugh) 
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So I - I took a bus to 1vhere my f'athcr urea is , and I was ther e , and 
then I \vent back to Durban on my own - this lvas - this was already -
I then spent Nelv Year in Zululand, so it "ivas early January - then I 
came , I think it lvas af'ter a lveek or so I then came to Durban and 
then I started tryin.::; to adjust myself' to the society (Lauch) and 
inunediately made contact lvith other comrades and said aluta cont i nua 
(Laugh) and "ive started in 198 - 1974 and reeroupod and started oper­
atinG again - that lvas "ivhat was the reason I had to leave the country . 

lie - "ive - "ive - He operated ' 7 - I mean ' 74 , ' 75 - it was the time ' 75, 
I thinl~ , af'ter our lvorking - as I said , it was around the time I 
worked at Dol ton Hall l'li th some trade unions - a c,-ain I belonged in 
the w1dcreround SACTU structure attemptine to deal ,.,i th the trade 
un;i.ons above - a..lso A""JC operated quite seriously 1vi th people like 
l\lduli , Joseph Hd\J.li - the one who was killed later by the boers -
so in 19 - in 197 5 then the arrests started - the Harry Glvalas - he 
1-.ras arrested in Piete1;mari tzburg , and other comrades like Jolm N ene , 
Anthony G"ivaba , and Hak'ubane - can ' t remember his f'irst name - f'rom 
Pictermari tzbure;, a.'1.d f'rom Ilammersdale comrades like Natthe"iv Sum-
ayilva and ( ••••••• • o. o. ) -

So when those comrades got arrested I then escaped that arrest and 
lef't the country f'or S\vaziland - but l'lhat I "ivas - I lvould like to 
say is that in 197 5 we actually , as an m1derground A."N"C structure in­
side , analysed the situation and realised that there "ivas a political 
explosion coming , and "ive thought it lvill come in 1975 , and our 
thinking "ivas that it w·ill come f'rom the 1vorkers ' f'ront - I think 
lve analysed that , even put it on paper , and indeed as we saw the 
situation developing there "ivere a lot of' resistance at dif'f'erent 
places . 

One of' the places , f'or an example , lvas the - and actions lvere the 
bus boycotts that in - in - in - in late , and I think entering 1 76 
' 75 inNatal , in the upperlands of'Natal at ( o•••••o•••• ) (He ' s 
turned into a chipmunk. ) - it was a very big bus boycott there -
and then I think in early 1 86 - if' not early 1 86 it was Kwathema in 
the Transvaal - to me by the time the Klvathema the - the - the bus 
boycott took place - to me it "ivas proving our analysis because people 
"ivere just ready to - to - to challenge the enemy, and it moved until 
to the students , so "ivl.th the students then it bursted out . 

No"iv of' course in terms of' ( •••••••••• ) I must say we - "ive d i d not 
think it lvill - the explosion will - "ivill - 1vill - "ivill occur on the 
student f'ront , but this is \vhat we missed - lve missed just the - we 
missed the - the f'ront or the sector "ivhere it was going to occur in 
the end (?) - but I think we \vere pretty almost on the ball because 
lve - 1ve sensed the situation as we were operating underground at the 
time - and it lvas quite interesting because "ive 1vere - lve lvere sens ­
ing it as an .ANC unit operating on - on the spot and theref'ore read­
ing the dynamics of' the situation . 

1ihen you came out it 1-;as kind of' - it 1vas really the high poi nt of' 
BC - it "ivas the time of' the lull lvhen there 1vas supposed to be no­
thing going on - ho"iv did you f'eel w·hen you came out - it ' s i nter­
esting that by ' 75 you ' d had this analysis together , seeing that 
there lvas action coming and that there lvas tlris building (?) - but 
lvhen you f'irst e;ot out December , 1 73 did it :feel - hOlv did it f'eel 
politic ally - it \vas so dif'f'erent f'rom "ivhen you \vent in when the .ANC 
was on everyone ' s lips - did you f'eel demoralised that people weren t t 
d i scussing it more or - I euess in your sphere they lvere (lveren • t) -
I ' m just lvondering if' you can comment on the little scene that you 
f'ound (?) 
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J . z. Firstly the - the TJC emerged very strongly \'fhilst I l'fas i n p ri s on , 

J . Z. 

so by the time I came out \'fe we r e :fully m'lare o:f tho DC ' s pr esenc e , 
and we had done our own anal ysis about the DC at the time - ''~e v i e\'1 
,.,e viel'led it as an important development - . \ve ah'lays :felt it was nec­
essary to have political li:fe ( ?) - this lvas b r ineine into before ( ?) 
the political li:fe , and therefore looking at it f'rom the - the b road 
point of vi<Hv, it l'fas an important development, and lve lvere clear 
that there was nelv political - serious political activity that lvould 
take place in South Africa and :fail to be influenced by the .ANC -
even i:f the .ANC had .failed to have not been talked about in - in -
in some period - ,.,e - lve saw our influence as beinc clear •••••••••• 

.!!.'ND OF SIDE THO . 

The other important :factor lvas that to say in :fact there had been a 
complete lull may not be a very correct indication o:f the situation -
you 1mol'f1 i:f you take :from 1963 you - you - you - you had in 1964 -
bebvcen 1964 and ' 65 there were actually Al'fC cases in - inside t he 
country, so perhaps you could have 1986 as a quiet year - but in 
1967 , much as it was not inside South Africa, you had ~ll( :fight i ng 
in the then Rhodesia , and a very big impact - it was the most drama­
tic happening, and :from 1967 , t 68 to ' 69 - it l'fas in t 69 that the -
the clashes in Rhodesia died down, so our people were a lvare o:f the 
ANC - and you are talking o:f then the period , about 1969 I think as 
you end up at early ' 69 or - or so the activities in 'o/ankie - those 
comrades l'fho were arrested here , and others lvho got arrested ins i de 
the country , actually emerged with a big case o:f the - o:f the Pieter­
maritzburg trial o:f the :former Uankie or Rhodesia what you call :fight . 

So there was a very big case o:f a big number o:f guerillas o:f the 
ANC tried in South Africa - I think in 1971 there '\'laS one guerilla 
'\vas tried , ,.,as part o:f those who get - who got arrested later - so 
there \vas not a complete lull for ten years really - there had been 
incidences that always indic - I mean indicated to the .ANC - I mean 
it was that case o:f 1969 that Dorothy ~yembe, :for an example , was 
involved - and therefore all these kind o:f - the very :fact that :from 
the - the battles in Rhodesia :from 1967, ' 68 - by 1 69 \ve have the 
case o:f the same fellows who are reported in the newspapers as the 
same people l'lho are :fighting Rhod - no''~ charged in South Afri ca -
many o.f them arrested in South Africa having already arrived and 
penetrated in South Africa - that had something. 

And - and this is arotmd the same time that the DC movement is - is 
beginning to emeree , so how could '\ve claim that it was just out o:f 
nol'fherc - though the BC movement said there lvas a lull o:f course (?) 
politically there was no organisation , but there had been political 
happenings - I don ' t think there was any stretch o:f tl'lO to three 
years ever since the three (?) that there ,.,as no .A.~C trial there \'las 
nothing happenine, or there was no :fight in Rhodesia - I think some 
of' these things need to be put into proper perspectives so that people 
shouldn 1 t think that there ,.,ere then people l'fho just emerged out o:f 
no influence at all . 
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J. z. After all, you had had a lot of ANC people 'tvho remained, 'tvho 'tvere 
not arrested or sent to prison who 't'lere lying lo'tv - many of them 
'tvere the fathers of these comrades who 'tvere emerging , 'tvho had been 
'tvhispering and talking to them about the old c-ood days, so 'tvhen the 
the - the DC movement emerged insofar as our analysis 'tvas concerned 
it could not be - it could not escape the influence of the deep 
rooting of the .ANC - 1ve 'tvere clear - 'tve - 'tve anaJ.ysed this 'tvhen (?) 
'tve 1-rere in prison - I 1vas part of the comrades 'tvho 'tvore thinking 
about it there - 'tve are about to come out . 

We actually therefore looked at it as a positive development for 
political consciousness of the people, and 'tvO - 'tve also appreciated 
the kind of' arguments, how they 'tvere emphasising on tho black -
much as I mean 'tve did not agree, 'tvc kne'tv that this 'tvould be - be 
coming and going because it cannot exist - it cannot remain because 
it is a narro1v thing - but insofar as - as they explained it later 
I mean 'tve came out, 1ve met someone - they explained it later that 
they 'tvere actually trying to fight ac-ainst the inferiority kind of 
complex and - ad - and fear. 

But of course you had had other comrades who had come our earlier 
on 'tvho w·ere doing short sentences, right - no't·l nobody could guarantee 
that they were not involved - of course if they were to be involved 
they 'tvere not going to shout their involvement - as a person 'tvho 
came out in 1974 and operated around 1 74 and '76, had an occasion 
to know of' the - of the - of the BC people who became - 'tvho came 
into contact 1rith - 'tvith our O'tro comrades in the Transvaal - I came 
into contact 'tvith them in Natal , both :from the African and the In­
dian community, and as 'tve came they actually received us 'tvi th en­
thusiasm - they ,.,anted help politically - they had a lot of' discuss­
ions. 

In :fact the ANC underground structures, they started again to - re­
cruiting for - for outside in 1975 - 1-1e 'tvere part of' the process -
and many of' the people who were recruited 'tvere from the BC?-1 'tvho 
actually le:ft the country at the time and - and therefore the - the 
the - the question of us and - and - and 'tvorking 1vi th the - the -
the BCH of course could not be done in an obvious '"ay, or perhaps it 
could not be seen even by some of' the BC:t-1 people - we ( 'tvho) 'tvere 
perhaps linking up those that 'tvere - 'tvere - 'tvere ready to be - to be 
linked up and those that 'tvere able to link up - but many of them -
or some of' them began to belong to the /~C w~derground inside South 
Africa 'tvhilst they 1-1ere in the BCM - they 'tvere actually in the ANC 
units in - inside the com~try . 

I think the cases later revealed this - and some 1-1ho le:ft the country 
who did not leave the country by being recruited to go :for military 
training, who had to leave the country because the police were look­
ing f'or them because they - they'd come to find out that they were 
in actual fact .Al'lC 'tvhat you call people - it is an open secret now 
that in some meetings of' the BCH some of the people actually produce 
the Freedom Charter and said : Here are the solutions of this country. 

It is therefore important to see that dynamic connection and - and 
that people therefore 'tvho had contact in one sense 'tvere the people 
who came out of prison , the old ANC, and 'tvhenever they came out it 
was 'tvell published and - and - and the BC:t-1 people 'tvould always be 
be inclined to make contact rith those people because they wanted 
the political input from these people and tl1eir experiences and 
everything, so contact began to be made in that kind of 'tiTay. 
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J. Z. That 's the reason '\vhy in fact it is not a correct assertion to say 
1976 just happened on its own and that you could exclude the ANC 
from 1976 - certainly the - the students '\vere demonstrating , but 
tho students had had contact and they - they in fact - the 1976 was 
beine discussed by tho - the students '\vho '\vere acting - they always 
went back to the .AN C to say : What do '\ve do "\d th the .ANC people -
people like Joe Gqabi at the time '\vere there , "\vho '\vere actually 
playing a key role in - in - in - in - in that struggle - as you 
kno'\v that ' 76 stretched and stretched and stretched - there -were 
the po1itical back- up o:f the situation , actually participated in 
in that kind of' sense - advice etc . 

It is partly the reason '\vhy - and - and aeain it is important to 
say just before 1976 you had had a situation that in 1975 , December 
in Pietermaritzburg and Durban big announcement by the enemy that 
Harry Glvalas and all have been arrested , ANC trial - and when - and 
those people arrested and this was publicised - three months later 
Joseph Hhluli (?) '\'las arrested again and killed , and the South 
African press actually boasted to have broken the back of' the ANC 
underground net,.,ork in South Africa - they even published the rout es 
leadine from Slvaziland into So uth Africa in an attempt to justify 
their killing Joseph Hhluli , and this is before ' 76 - I mean June ' 76 . 

And it is no secret that the youth, particularly up to Johannesburg 
and - and that ,.,as one of' the biggest funeral of' the ANC that was 
attended by - by - by thousands of' people - Nhluli ' s lvhat you call 
funeral in Natal - and the youth right in Johannesburg , "\vhich lvas 
operating underground , lvhi ch had been part of' the - the - the - the 
open '\vhat you call organisation , actually came to .ANC underground 
quietly in the f'or,.,ard areas demanding e;uns - they ,.,ere very angry -
so that kind of' a situation could not have just happened , and you 
can imagine the - the situation was so charged at the time that any­
thing that happened immediately influenced, so people kne'\'1 for the 
first time that the A~C is operating inside the country because it 
'\vas exposed by the enemy - so they '"ere not merely acting from no­
where. 

In fact the hopes , aJ.'ld some have said so , '\vhen they '"ere acting and 
so they were hoping that}~ because it ' s said to be here is going to 
be '\vi th us in de ali g 'd th the boers - this is apart from the very 
contact that the - the youth had w·i th our comrades , even in Johannes­
burg '\vhere the thine; sparl<:ed off' - you had then at that time in Jo­
hannesburg people like John Nkadime {?) ,.,ho had had contact - like 
Joe Gqabi , Robert Hanoi , Ramohades {?) and all - old .ANC people who 
'"ere - ,.,ho had come from prison . 

In fact some of the people '\vho were involved immediately came out, 
who had been '\vorking '\vith these comrades - these comrades , the Joe 
Gqabis, the - the Nanc;as and Nkadime {? ) hove actually started re­
cruiting people as from early •76, '\vho lvere already coming out for -
for mllitary trainine; - so there '\'las k"C underground operating in 
full force - so it is not correct to say the .M~C '\vas not on the scene 
and - and there was nothing happening from the ANC position . 

I mean w-e - we - '\ve - ,.,e may not claim that '"e - '\ve - '\ve - '\ve let (?) 
Peterson to - to be shot , because that '"as a peaceful kind of' thing, 
but the political motive behind '\vhich was being even - even if' the 
demonstration , like for an example , like say , the- the }1daden i (?) 
thing , the Ka,\Tthema {?) thing , there '\'laS an - a - a recurrine of' 
activities in South Africa at the time, basically from the BC kind 
of' influence . 



J • Zill1A • PAGD Jl . 

J . Z . Dut I ' m saying the deep inf'luence no1v in terms of' sayine; \ve c ould 
con:front the boors :from the ANC , right , ru1d - and - and as soon as 
this thing happened - as soon as it happened , in :fact student s wer e 
running to the Gqabis and saying : lfhat must 1ve do nolv - so they 
\vere actually participating in advising as the situation \'las - was 
going on . 

J . F . 

J .z. 

So I - I - I - I \•TOuld - I \vould :find it di:ff'icult to say the ANC 
did not have inf'luence again in this - in this kind of' case - not 
that it - it - it planned to launch the - the - the - the day and 
say : You go and march - t his \vas a - a students deciding on t he 
issue that \vas af'f'ecting students , as adult people had decided on 
t he bus boycott , on other things , but this one , the enemy misread 
the situation by attacking a peacef'ul demonstration , and because 
they lme\v it \vas so charged that then sparked o:ff' the thing - it is -
it is a :fact that it sparked of'f' :from that point o:f v ie\v - not that 
somebody sat do'm and said : If' - if' - i:f - if' - even the BC they 
can ' t tell you they sat dolm t o plan June 16 that this lvill be the 
day - nobody can claim that - but i nsof'ar as the political inf'luence 
of' the thinking at the time , we had had a student organisation which 
was bef'ore COSAS - I can ' t just remember the name no1v - I ' m s ure I ' ll 
get the name - \vhich had members 1vhich \vere directly dealing \vi th 
the ANC people absolutely, some - many, many of' those leaders who 
had actually :formed it are (?) wi t h the ANC - so you - it ' s -

I ' m just mentioning this because I think it is an important thing 
:for people not to - unless somebody l'lants to prove a point that : 
Look, the ANC can ' t claim everything (?) - and we arc not claiming 
it i n any '\vay, but \ve are saying 1vhen it came into being and we \vere 
part of' the inf'luencing :factor because '"e '"ere '"orking underground 
then - \ve '"ere the only ones worl<:ing underground and - and we - we -
we participated :from underground as it '"as going on , and \ve couldn ' t 
\'~ri te letters about it and say no\v \ve are then doing the thing , and 
we are saying even bef'ore that there had been political happenings 
affecting the ANC that had i nfluenced some people to lmo'" that the 
.ANC \vas actually living and there undere;roun.d in the country . 

Just let me ask you (Tape off) - just in line lvith everythine; you ' ve 
just said , what kind of advice were they looking :for , these young 
people \vho \vere i n touch 1vit h the .ANC - ,.,hat kind o:f questions were 
they asking - did they seem to be quite ie;norant in terms - some of' 
them in terms of' not having had much exposure to .ANC , or was there 
a lot kept alive - ,.,ere some o f' them talking about Azani a , and what 
kind of' debates did you have lvith them - I ' m thinking more theoretic al 
debates or anything about non- racialism - did they come \vi th BC - d i d 
you try to come ,.,i th non- racialism? 

Certainly the ones I discussed. wi th - it \'las actually the question of 
them trying to raise gener al political questions , and they ,.,ere not 
coming as i:f they \vere coming from a foreign body - they ,.,ere actually 
keen to learn on the issues that they did not understand - I had 
some , :for an example , who ,.,er e s t udying at N goye , and there wer e 
problems at N e-oye bet\veen them and Gatsha, and there \vere other 
problems in relation to what they \vere trying to do , and I - I -
I - I had general discussions wi t h them , and there ,.,ere other com­
rades , :for an example , younger , \vho \vero in the - in the Indian comm­
unity, discussing also even the questions of the politics there -
ho\v the - the - the only living N IC - \'lhat ,.,ere my vie\'IS about what 
the NIC \'las doing - that kind of thing - because '"e had quite a num­
ber of' other comrades, young comrades from the DCN who lrere Indian 
and '"ho ,.,.ere trying to say '"hich \ve (?) bad to go . 
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J . Z . They 1-.rere ready also to participate in - in - in - in the underground 
thines and I had something to do "'d th a nwnbor ( .!...-aut;'1) of them for 
the underc-roLmd of the A:~C , so some 1vere actually recruited int o t he 
.ANC undereround - you - you then had , I think, the comrades in t he -
in the Transvaal 1-.rho also l.)articipated in the similar 1-.ray - some o f 
them bct;an to be harassed by the police , and they 1van.tcd to leave 
the country - they did not know ho"'-.r , and the A.~C structures helped 
out to take them out - that "'vas the kind of thine- in general . 

J . F . And did- in terms of my interest in non- racialism, do you remember 
ever specifically addressing that issue - thero "'vas a •••• 

J . z. lve specifically - 1-.re specifically wanted to find out 1-.rhat - ho,., do 
they see the - the - their ( they ' re) black as - as - as - as they 
put it - the emphasis on the b lack - the - they explained - I don ' t 
think they explained in the - in the same level - you - you - i t 
di.f'fe r ed from the some "1-.rere articulate , some understood , but the -
the - the - the final explanat i on 1vas that much as the - they - they 
emphasise the BC kind of tendency at the time , it 1-.ras necessary for 
t hem to liberate themselves first as - as - as A.fricans because they 
"'vere - there has been centuries of this superiority by the white 
people , so it 1-.ras very necessary , and they - and many of them under­
stood it as - as - as - as - as something necessary for a period -
not that they "'verc beine racial , but they "'vanted to - to liberate 
their humans (?) in order to be ready to fight , and it 1vas a nec ­
essary thine; for them to do , that in the final analysis some of them 
articulated the thing - not all - and they find this is the p o licies 
of the ANC 1vere tho correct ones - but before you reach that you . 
have got to mw<e the black man liberated first - that I S hO"'v they 
argued. 

J . F . 

J .z. 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J . F . 

I must say to a number of that I d i scussed 1vi th I didn ' t find b i g 
problems because they didn. ' t seem not to be understanding 1..rhat they 
1vere trying to say - it 1vas different, for an e x ample , from what the 
PAC was sayine; , because the PAC 1vas saying drive aJ.l the 1vhite man 
to the sea - 1ve want to manage and 1ve must (?) manage our country -
1-.re don ' t 1vant any interf'erence - they 1·10re not sayine that - they 
1-.rere mrely "'vorried about the psychological liberation and political 
liberation so that you are able to fight - they said : Defore we are 
able to tw<e a g Lm and fight you need first to be liberated in our 
O"'m mi:1d (?) - that ' s how they - they - they nrguod for their point . 

But they also didn ' t "'vant any whites to participate? 

Yes, they didn ' t want because at - at that point in time they - they 
were talking about this liberation , that if' they can ( came) to part ­
icipate they are eoing to - they are going to mess up the - that -
that part o.f' it , that issue. 

So you accepted that? 

It - 1ve11 , it - from our point of vie,.,, £rom if - if I could speak 
of my - my o1m , I understood their - I understood their 01m problem 
and I mean their - their o1m aspect, and throue;h that they had been 
able to mobilise t 11e people - I mean it uas not - to them it lvas not 
the permanent policy - it was a specific policy aimed .f'or a specific 
area of 1.;ork. 

And did they come ,.,ri th Azania - ho"'v did you deal 1vi th that "'vhen 
everything 1vas beinG called Azania? 
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J. z. I - I didn' t have much problems (Laugh} really the - the - ld th the 
Azania - to me the name - the name has never been ( •••••••••••••• ) 
I mean this is no'" my personal fee line- - it has never been such a 
bie problem - of course it - as you know·, this '"as fashionable -

J . F. 

J . Z . 

J . F . 

J.z . 

J . F . 

J . z. 

J . F . 

J . z. 

you had H.hodesia becominr,- Zimbab,~e, you had South lfost Africa be -
becoming Namibia, so it - it '~as fashionable that '~e must have some­
thing like that - it - in fact until I left the country this had 
never occurred to me DS a big problem, trat the - the naming of - I 
mean if the people call themselves Azania - but of course later it 
became a problem in the sense that people '~ere - ,~ere using it to 
try to differentiate to - to - to - to do somethinc- different . 

I - I - I think '"hen I '"as inside - in fact it '"D s not even so pro ­
nounced in fact '"hen I '"as still inside be.fore I left this - you -
you still had BCH mainly - the Azanian thi lf.' '"as not ( •• ••••••••• ) 
I think it - it G"Ot more sharpened w·i th time - at the early stages 
of DCH it l11'as not the main tbina - I don ' t thinl-. it uas the main 
thinff - it got sb<Jrpened with time as - as - as - as it developed 
later - so that time it '"as not a subject of discussion at the - at 
the early stages. 

And l'lhat prompted this resurgence of - you ' re saying it never - there 
never '"as as much of' a lull as the history books say, and I under­
stand the point you made , but it '~asn ' t the fact that Nozambique '~as 
free they' d picked up in terms of guerilla activity - was that mainly 
it? 

Partly it l'las - there '~as a struggle going on in the rec-ion , and you 
l'IOuldn 1 t find South Africa dormant - it '~as - it '~as one of the ele ­
ments - as you lmow· , the - the - the - the fic-hting of Frelimo the 
Tete province and Cabo del Garda was highly publicised in South 
Africa and Angola because tho enemy lvanted to - to recruit and in­
fluence the lvhi tes to participate in helping out the Portuguese col­
onies , a.n.d therefore they lvere a1rare o:f this kind of' happening . 

It lvas clear from anybody else that the fight in Rhodesia, in }1oz­
ambique , in Angola, l'las the continuation of the liberation of the 
continent , and this must have influenced the people inside that we 
need to do something and - and - and therefore it could have been 
one of the very important elements to influence the situation at 
early ' 70s . 

Then you left in '75? 

Yes . 

1fuat part of the year - the beginning or the end? 

At the end , December 5th. 

And do you '"'ant to tell me '~hat you did after that? 

l'Tell , I '~as in Swaziland and continued 11ith my \vorlc (Lauc-h) - con­
tinued \nth my '~ork from Swaziland - in fact it was December, Jan ­
uary, _•ebruary , Harch, April - I think it '"as April - it '~as the 
fifth month or so that( •••••••• ) died- Joseph Hhlili was killed 
by the boers - it - this (?) man I - I mean I - I '\·;orked 1ri th I mean 
amana many - so I \vorked in Swaziland and I cot detained in Swazi­
land because of' - this l'las connected '"'i th his death - and I was then 
sent out of' Sl-.razil<Jnd by the Swazi authorities - and then I 1-1ent to 
Hozronbiquc and I 1 v e been in Hozambique until recently (Laugh) 
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J . z. Yes , I have been in Hozambique all the time . 

J . F . So \vhen did you arrive in Hozambique? 

J . z. 

J . F . 
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June - Jm"le I arrived in Hozambique , 1 76. 

• • • • leaving South Africa is , or ask was - you spoke about how the 
ANC was alive, but did you ~ind non-racialism alive - did you find 
that - the support for non- racialism to be strong? 

You mero"l after prison? 

Ja, "'vhen you came out in '73 did you find that the kind of - when 
you left there "'vas K.athrada and Goldberg on trial along with every­
one else and that 1vas the kind of the height of the congress move­
ment, and then •••• 

1-n1at "'vas clear at tile - 1vhen "'ve came out "!vas that the - the - the 
BCH - 1mat the Dc:.r had done - the BC:r-1 had moved to embrace the In­
dian and Coloured communities - in other "'vords , "'vhen they - they 
speak they - they spoke of black - it "'vas no longer like the - the 
the - this is another difference with the PAC, because they were not 
discriminating the Indian community or the Indians - they were part 
of the BC movement - so people who "'vere put a"'vay 1vere the - only 
the "'vhi tes - this was the situation as 1ve came out - so the - the -
the dynamics in terms of that kind of tiling "!vas being spoken - I mean 
here you "'vere not having the ANC speaking - you "'vere having the BCM 
speaking and sayinG : W'e lvant the blacks to liberate themselves from 
the lvhi te supremacy - this "'vas the thinG that "'vas talked about , and 
that is "'vhy people like us were asking : But w·hat do 1ve mero"l - what 
do you mean by this - and they had the explanation to make - so that 
is "'vhat one found "'vhen - "'vhen he left prison in terms of the domin­
ating political talks around . 

J::l.TD OF SIDE ON.8 • 

• • • • in Mozambique, "'vas that important in that for all the talk of 
non-racialism, did you find it to be a non-racial society in practice? 

Yes, in practice I found Mozambique to be very non-racial - I think 
Frelimo is very clear on this question and I think it practiced it 
very - if you are in Hozambique you- you don 't feel - that ' s one 
place where you don ' t feel there are different people - in - i n -
in - in the very serious sense you - you - you feel you are in Moz­
ambique, you are "'vith :t>lozambicans - "'vhetber people are white or 
Coloured or Indian you - you don't feel it at all - there i s nothing 
that makes you to - to think about it - very, very non- racial in -
i n the true sense o.r the lvord. 

And from June, 1 76 '\Jere you chief rep? 

No, I was deputy chief there . 

Under "'vho? 
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J . z. Under Lennox Lagu . 

J . F. And then \'lhen did you become chief rep? 

J. Z . I beca>Ie chief' rep in 1984 - he left at some point and I \'las - I also 
was just there , not even deputy - I rel'lained there ( ..-aueh) - not 
deputy :for a long time , but I \'las just there in the office - I mean 
in Hozambique, let me ... >erhaps say , not iTl the of'fices as such - I 
\'las there - but in l98l~ I became the chief' rep after - after the -
after March , 1984 (Lau~h) 

J .F . I just \'/anted to ask a few questions about more the theoretical 
aspect of things - \-rhen - maybe you could talk a bit about the move ­
ment from the ' 50s and ' 60s through ~Iorogoro to the consultative 
conference on the non-racialism issue - you \vcre inside at the time , 
bnt did people talk about Norogoro and the decisions being made there 
w·hen you \vere still inside? 

J . z. l'iell , \vhen - it is important to say that in terms o.f the A~C , .ANC 
has a tradition o.f involving the people in tlle decision making -
that tradition is very important - the \'lay k'-IC \-ras structured before 
it w·as banned you had the president general , for an example, \vho was 
the national president - you had provincial presidents - so if you 
\'/ere to have conferences conferences \'/Ould take decisions - but \'lhat 
became more important \'las that in - in - in the ' 50s the experience 
of the Congress of the People , \'/here the A"N'C decided 'ri th the con­
gress - congresses to consult the people - this proved to be a very 
important thing because the kind of vie\'IS that you f'ind at the end , 
they are very rich in the sense because people have participated . 

That is \'lhy the Freedom Charter became an everlasting document and 
a document that in terms of the basic positions of tho k~C , no 
grouping ever since has been able to articulate anything beyond 
that one , and I don 1 t think there ' s going to be - so that kind of 
tendency has been kept all the time, and of' course w·i th the banning 
of the A~C the ne,., situation arise because \'le had to operate under­
eround , so the consultation was no,..- beinc done underground - but it 
is important to say this consultation business has been a tradition . 

For a.'"'l example , in 1962 there \'las a Lobatsi conference of the ANC 
wherein the - the - the leadership inside and the leadership outside 
managed to - to meet and consult on - on - on basic serious quest­
ions - that \'las one historic consultation that took place , and you -
you - you then had the - from 1962 - so for 1 63 , • 64 , •65 , t 66 , ' 67 , 
1 68 - the seventh year, 1 69, there was then the Horogoro conference -
again there was a necess i ty for the - for the consultation here . 

N 0\'1 of' course \'le \vere in prison then but tho - the - the - the - the 
consultation that took place became very much important in articulat ­
inG' the strategy and tactics of the A}TC, taking into considerat i on 
the time , the conditions etc . - it became a historic kind of consult ­
ation - the elaboration and the elucidation (?) of our policy and 
strategy \vas very important at the time , and it \'las a process of 
this tradition of consulting. 

So you - you - you have had , for an example , the NEC at times having 
extended meetings - at times it - inviting its sub- committees to 
consult generally - there have been a lot of such \'lhich are not 
published, and such ( ••••••••• ) the kind of' consultati ons - but of 
course you had a situation wherein ( ?) the ANC felt it \'las necessary 
to have another consultative conference many years after - after 
Horogoro . 
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J . Z. It had '"anted to do it in 1979 -not ' 79, 1 89 - '79 - 1979 , but of 
course I think they '"ere - it - it - it - it only took place in 1985. 
No'" what is important, I think , in this rec-ard '"as - is the question 
that the consultation l'las quite extensive 1rlthin the membership of 

J . F . 

J . Z . 

J . F. 

J . z. 

the A.~C, so that by the time the conference came people had discussed, 
had deliberated on a number of issues - and of course the 1985 con­
sultative conference looked at a number of' other issues and - and -
and in a l'lay discussed the current situation and ho'" the - the move­
ment '"as to deal '\'lith the current situation . 

So it became very important to - to - to - to ensure that both lead­
ership nn<.l the membership '"as together in in - in - in this s i t ­
uation that was beainning to emerge to be a very complex situation 
in our struggle - it has been therefore a - a - a sort of a tradit­
ional process that .ANC ah.,rays gets into, that '"e have been engaged 
in - '"e - '"e ah'lays believe as - as - as rank and .file , as the lead­
ership , that having consulted you move kno,.,rinc that you are moving 
'"i th the ,.,hole movement and LIDderstanding , and it also helps to 
identify the ideas as - the current ideas as they come as to ho'" 
to deal 1rlth the situation . 

And '\V'e ahV"ays :found it very useful to do so because it - it brings 
harmony betw·een the A.WC and the people because '"e are able to iden­
ti.fy the issues, and also bet,.,reen the leadership and the membership -
it ' s an important thing that the ANC cannot do lri tho ut. 

And the aspect of the non-racialism uhere the movemmb. up to 1 85 where 
anyone o:f any race can be on the NEC - '"hy '"as it that initially it 
l'las A:frican National Cong ress then it '"as - there '"as a change at 
:r.Ioro g oro said (?) tllat there was some participation but it wasn ' t 
until ' 85 that Coloureds and Indians and '"hi tes could actually be 
on the central decision making body of' the A."N" C - and also maybe you 
could also tell ho'" that '"as different :for }ll\: - but :first on the 
A'\IC - '"hy did it take so long - '"hat was the position in ' 69 when 
you g uys ,.,ere sitting in prison knOlV'ing - you kne'" they l'lere meeting 
in Horog-oro? 

Nmm . 

Did you :feel that there should be movement on the - this colour issue 
or did you :feel the people aren ' t ready , or '"ere you surprised when 
the decision came like that ( ?) - hOlV' did you feel about it- you ' re 
just saying that the .ANC is so strong on non-racialism - '"hy has it 
taken •••• 

Much as - much as the ANC has been very strong on this question and 
it has practiced it , but you - if' you lead the people you don ' t '"ant 
to be so much ahead of' the people - you have '"anted to move '"i th the 
people, and this is l'lhat the ANC has tried to do all the time - in 
in - in -in 1959 , :for an example, the issue arises and the ANC ' s 
clear on the po l icy , but the question was tactically is it correct 
to implement this now· - as you know, the - the - the situation by 
1959 - so you- you have a situation that had (?) a lot of' mass 
arrest and - and - and - and situation up to a point where people 
talk of' a lull - t h at from 1963 just lvhen the ANC 1 s banned and goes 
undergroLIDd you don ' t actually have the ANC as before communicating 
with the people , as it w·ere , in public meetings and rallies, so you -
you have a situation '"here the ANC 1 s doing ,.,ork :from underground , 
right . 

N o'" you don ' t lvant then the .ANC to be misunderstood at a point lvhen 
they (?) cannot be in a position to clarify lvhateve r mis LIDderstandin g 
that could be the re. 
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J . Z . So by 1969 as - as - ns you ' d recall , the - inside South A£ri ca t he 
political mood , the pol - debates and everythine hod been s uppr essed 
by the enemy , so there ,.,as no conununication that "'V'OS going on at 
that level bet1veen the A•C and the people , because there has been 
that banniugs and everyt'lting , right - you could not tl1en at that 
time "'ri thout any consul tat ion jump on the kind of dPcision , and 
therefore - because tbat "'vill mean you arc so nuch "'vith your correct 
policies so much ahead of' the masses th ..... t it - then you may - you 
may begin to lose touch with the masses . 

J . F . 

Dut tho .rurc outside the - the confines o.f t'1e .:::outh A.frican lm.,r out­
side then decides at least in all otl •e r structures of' the ANC the 
tendency "'vhich has - "'vhich was there from the hee;inning "'vith l\!K 
should no'" be there because there are no loc-al con.fines - \V'e are out ­
side, and it ' s our policy and - and we do everythinG together in any 
,.,ray - so the involvement o.f all nationalities at all other structures 
except the NBC , because the ~~C is not a small thing - you can ' t 
take a - a decisio"l "'vithout proper consultations at that level , be ­
cause ,.,e must kno''~ the implications . 

So bet"'V"een ' 69 and ' 85 you had a situation that the AN C begins to 
operate inside the country from underc-rotU1d , first and foremost early 
' 70s , that by late ' 70s tbe .ANC had organised commw1ication "'vi th 
people - it w·as distributing leaflets - it 1vas pushinc the line 
across - so by the early 1 80s the question of the ANC has become 
something again in South Africa , so the ANC has managed once again 
to be in contact ,.,ri th people , firstly from undergrow1d and - and 
thcre.fore articulating itself' quite obviously any issue that could 
have arisen , the .~-\NC would make a leaflet cu1d distribute it through­
out the country and clarify the question therefore - and therefore 
you ,.,ere no,., moving "'vi th the people , and it \vas among the people -
it "'V"as no,., in a position to lmow ho,., the people think - so that t s 
the reason "'vhy -

And - and this issue "'·ras consulted not only outside \·lith the 1985 
even "'V'ith the people in the country - the A~C made it a point to 
get the vie"'vs of' tho people and everybody - so ,.,hen it took the 
decision it "'vns not taking the decision on its o'm but it - of course 
it had '"'orked for it and it - it ,.,as therefore time that this dec­
ision had - had to be taken because people ,.,rho (?) \'/ere with the 
ANC - it \'las marching with the people . 

So that ' s the reason why by 1980 - because it has been very clear 
with it - it ,.,as just a question of the tactical - I mean it was a 
tactical question that it could not be implemented at - at other 
times - but not that it had problems in terms of' policy, so it -
\vhen it beg-ins to say nO\'/ the membership is everyone - that is why 
it has never caused any problem, even 'tV'ith the people ins i de , the 
democratic , they ' ve got no problem absolutely , even - even - I don ' t 
kno,.,r if even (?) AZAPO talks about it because it - it looks r i dic­
ulous (Laugh) if' they talked about it . 

So it - it ' s a question of timing and tactics and when to act in 
this and w·hen to do this one (?) 

And how do you feel about the organisations inside the country that 
tend to be still along one race group , like JODAC jn Johannesburg, 
NIC , TIC - release :Handela committee is just Afri can - "''lha t ' s the 
v iew of' that? 
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J . Z . No , the- the problem is '""hen you are in South Africa you hav e got 
these confines of - of - of leeality - I mean of - of the laws 
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there - the people are forced to operate in that kind o.f \oJ"ay against 
their will , and of course because the communities are s o separated 
people feel there is a necessity to be able to mobilise these comm­
uni ties and - and - and if - if you had to ma1<e the communi ties and 
just ~orce them and take somebody black to go and oreanise in the 
suburb in Johannesburg you - you may not reach the - you may not 
reap the - the results you '""ant to reap - so it's a question of op­
erating within the realities of the situation in - in - in that 
sense. 

And ·was that different - you were speaking about the ANC - why was 
it that ~~ from the beeinning - even in 1969 Joe Slovo was on the 
revolutionary council , \oJas he? 

J a, he got onto the revolutionary council then . 

lvhy is it that '""i th ~nc it seems it's the most non-racial body? 

I - I - I thought I explained that at the beginning by saying when 
NK \vas formed it \vas a secret orc-anisation operating Lmderground , so 
it had no business to - to - to - even to - to try to take into real­
ity the lmoJ" , because it '""as operating outside the confines of the la'""• 

And how did you - just the last few questions - how did you find , 
over the y.ears , the response , especially o:f young people '""ho '""ere 
get tine involved '""i tb ~nc or were speakinG about it or speaking about 
the ANC , to someone like Slovo - no'"" since the ' 80s his name is along 
'""i th Nandela and many leaders - not in any '""ay specially to single 
him out, but it seems there ' s sucb an acceptance - '""hen you came out 
in ' 73, ' 7l.J, '75 '""hen you '""ere talking to those BC people they 
'""ouldn ' t have '""anted to lmow about Joe Slovo being a key person in 
NK , \\TO uld they? 

1¥ell, at that time this \oJ"as never an issue - it - it '""as never 
raised as an issue w·ith the BC people '""hen we - when '""e came out 
I think Joe Slovo ' s name was - was raised by the PAC earlier on -
people who lmew him - I don ' t think at - at the time when we came 
out of prison , because there wasn ' t high (?) activity by the ANC -
I think perhaps '""e '""ere - '""e were to begi n the process of going 
underground , and therefore the - the - the name then did not really 
arise as an - as an issue as such. 

I ' m just thinking because •••• 

Because (?) I think '""hen Herb (?) Septembers got involved I 'm s ure 
early - early ' 8 - he got involved \\That? 

He '""as sentenced ' 75, so he was involved - he got recrui ted in '7 2 
in Lourenco Harques , as it was then, because he '""as on the Island 
'7 5 to ' 80 . 

No , no , no , no, \vasn ' t - \oJ"asn't he among the group that went in be­
cause of celebrating Frclimo thing? 

Themba ( •••••••• )? 

Mmm . 

No , he wasn ' t with Terror Lakota - he '""as just involved '""ith ~nc , or 
the ANC . 
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J. z. ' 7 5? 

J . F . 
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' 75 to 1 80 , he cot five years - anY1"ay •••• 

I ' m just trying to think. 

The only other thing I '"anted to ask - I f'orcot to ask before - '"as -
I just thought it '"as interesting that you '"ent into SACTU - that 
you said you went to talk , to deal '"i th SACTU underground , that you 
went into the trade unions - why did you e o into the ~ield when you 
came out - did it - '"as it b e cause of' the Durban strikes that you 
had seen labour a s important? 

No , that has - that had been my .field - I had been ( ••• • •• • ••••••• ) 
on this even before I ,.,ent to prison (Laugh) and - and it ' s because 
of' my - my understanding of' the role of' the - of' the ,.,orkers as - as 
you lmo,., as understood by the ANC itself' , and therefore inevitably, 
even if there was no trade union activities I would have actually 
initiated it because it l·:as an important - nn importan t thing to -
to be involved in . 

So ho'" do you feel about this debate of African leadership and '"ork­
ing class leadership and the - you can talk about non- racialism, but 
people lrill say it ' s still important to have African leadership -
some people say that - there ' s another school that feels very strongly 
that you 1 ve got to have a '"orking class representation - kind of' the 
workerist point of vie'"• 

1vell, I - I - I don ' t kno'" - I mean I ' m not so much involved in 
those kind of debates in that kind of '"ay - I thinl;:: there are very 
clear issues here - J:.. mean people are trying to mal·~ non-issues to 
be issues - you - you have the struggle that is goine on in South 
Africa - it - it is an understood thin e - I mean our struggle is 
understood that I mean the Africans play an important role in that 
revolution because lve cannot rub that one of~ because it is a real­
ity of the situation - they ' ve got to play a11. important role - and 
'\\'e have recognised the role of' the '"orkers , that the '"orkers in our 
strucgle they ' ve go t a key role to play - this is not only theory , 
it ' s practice. 

If you call a stay-at-home - even if 1-la..."ldela calls it in 1961 who -
'"ho are you saying must stay at home in reality - I mean '"e are not 
sayinG to people '"ho are at the (?) present stay-at-home - '"e are 
t alkine about the '"orlcers, '"e are actually addre s sine the ,.,orkers -
that ' s the reason '"hy Luthuli talked of tbe '"orkers as a spear , and 
the ANC as a shield o~ the nation - so it ' s an understood theoretical 
and practical kind of thing - and when '"e say there~ore the - the -
the 1vork.ers are the pillar in our Ol·m revolution in South Africa , 
we say it because '"e know it from experience . 

It ' s - you see, the question of the '"orkers and (?) must lead, then 
that is a confusion that people bring - '"hat are you talking about 
if - if' you say no'" the '"orkers must lead f'ror1 no,.,here , '"hat is it -
I don ' t kno'" - perha..;>s that ' s why people are saying these are ,.,ork­
erist - because you - you - you - we are fighting the - the revolut­
ion that the .ANC is .fiF,hting at the moment is - is- is to liberate 
ourselves in South Africa - ,.,e are talking about the national demo­
cratic liberation , the liberation of the lvhat you call and - and 
'"herein the '"orkers play an important role also , right - so the 
question of' the leadership has never come as a - as an issue - we 
don ' t have an issue on - on - on that one . 
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If' you say the w·orkers must lead , lvhat are "\ve trying to say - are you 
trying to say "\ve are now· fighting the - the - the trade union struggle­
I don ' t think that ' s the case -the trade union, the workers have a 
part to play in this broad national liberation struggle that '~ are 
fighting, so I - I - I never understood the argument that the workers 
must lead - the workers must play an important role - they have been 
playing an important role - they have played it. 

\Vben did you get on to the NEC? 

1977· 

END OF 1NT,1!.;RVIE1f. 


